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Thursday, May 3, 2018
--- On commencing at 9:34 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Please be seated.

Looks like we've got everything on.  Is microphone on?  Good morning, everyone.  My name is Lynne Anderson.  I will be presiding at the hearing.  With me on the panel to my left is Vice-Chair Christine Long and to my right is Board member Cathy Spoel.

Today we're here sitting to hear two applications by Enbridge Inc. and Union Gas Limited, which we have been collectively calling the applicants.  The first application is seeking approval for the amalgamation of Enbridge Gas and Union Gas into a single company referred to as Amalco.  The second application is for approval of a rate-setting mechanism for Amalco for rates effective Jan. 1, 2019.

In the OEB's decision in Procedural Order No. 3, the OEB decided to combine the applications and to hear them jointly.  The OEB's docket numbers are EB-2017-0306 and EB-2017-0307.

OEB Staff prepared a hearing plan, and that was circulated yesterday, so hopefully everyone has a copy of that.  Our objective is to complete this hearing in the four days that have been scheduled, and OEB Staff has allocated time to help achieve that endeavour, and that was at the Panel's direction.

We remind parties that for the purposes of your final submissions you can rely on anything that is in evidence and on the record.  There's no need to repeat those questions in this hearing, because, even with the Staff allocations, the hearing plan looks like it's longer than four days.  So we expect that there are some duplicate areas and that people will not duplicate questions so that we'll make up some time if -- for those duplicate areas.

Could I -- we do intend to sit -- try and finish before 5:00 each day as well.

There are -- appearances.  Could we have appearances.
Appearances:


MR. CASS:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Fred Cass for the applicants.  On my right is Malini Giridhar from Enbridge Gas and on my left is Vanessa Innis from Union Gas.  Thank you.

MR. BRETT:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Panel.  My name is Tom Brett.  I am here for BOMA.  Thank you.

MR. WARREN:  Robert Warren for the Municipality of Chatham-Kent.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Board members.  Ian Mondrow for the Industrial Gas Users...  [off-mic]..  Good morning, I'm sorry, Madam Chair, Board members, Ian Mondrow for the Industrial Gas Users' Association, IGUA.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Jay Shepherd, School Energy Coalition.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  John Vellone for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario.


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, I don't have a microphone.  Julie Girvan for the Consumers' Council of Canada.

MR. YAUCH:  Brady Yauch, with Energy Probe, and for panels 2 to 5, Dr. Roger Higgin will be asking questions.

MR. LADANYI:  Tom Ladanyi, for Energy Probe.

MS. BUCHTA:  Jessica Anne Buchta, Alan Ross, on behalf of Rover Pipeline.

MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

MR. QUINN:  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MR. POLLOCK:  Scott Pollock on behalf of Canadian Manufacturers & Exporters.

MR. GARNER:  Good morning, Panel.  Mark Garner on behalf of VECC.

MR. CHATTERJEE:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Jaya Chatterjee, City of Kitchener.

MS. ANDERSON:  Anyone else speaking today?  Okay.  Staff.

MR. RICHLER:  Good morning.  Ian Richler.  I am co-counsel, along with Michael Millar for OEB Staff, and with us is the case manager, Khalil Viraney.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.

There are -- we have a preliminary matter.  There have been confidential materials or materials that have been requested for confidential treatment filed in this proceeding, so when you get to those, please identify in advance so that we can go in camera.

In particular, there were no objections to the confidential treatment of the CRA analysis.  The OEB therefore approves confidential treatment and will follow up with a written decision.

We will treat the working papers and source data as confidential for the time being.  If anyone is referring to those, pending our final decision, parties signing an undertaking can have access to the working papers and data.

We would like to hear if there are any objections to that material being permanently confidential, and we'd like to hear those objections by the afternoon break today if there are any, and then we'll make a ruling as quickly as we can.

I think the question -- are there any other preliminary matters that anyone wanted to raise before --


MR. WARREN:  Yes, Madam Chair.  The Municipality of Chatham-Kent and the applicants have reached an understanding with respect to the concerns of the municipality.

Under -- the terms of the understanding were embodied in a letter from me to the secretary of the Board on May 1st, 2018.  I don't know whether the Panel has that letter in front of them, but --


MS. ANDERSON:  I don't have it in front of me.  I've seen it.

MR. WARREN:  Okay.  The terms of the understanding are set out in that letter, and on behalf of the municipality, we would ask that the Board accept the conditions which we've proposed and which Union has -- Union and Enbridge have agreed to and indicate, if humanly possible, that the Board is willing to accept those conditions, in which case I don't need to tax your patience by being here any longer.

MS. ANDERSON:  So the Panel is not prepared to make a ruling on that at this point, so I guess proceed accordingly.

MR. WARREN: Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, just -- I wonder if I could ask:  Has that letter been circulated to parties?  Because it certainly wasn't circulated to me.

MS. ANDERSON:  Can Staff help?  Is it on the record?  We can check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It is normal practice when counsel has communications which affects everybody that they circulate it to everybody, so I wonder if Mr. Warren could circulate it to all the parties so we can see whether we're affected by that settlement.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, and we can check whether it is already on the record.

MR. WARREN:  We will certainly check that, Madam Chair.  Among other things, if Mr. Shepherd wants to, he can find it on the Board's website.  It is posted there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, I asked if he would send it to all the parties.  Will he commit to send it to all the parties or not?

MR. WARREN:  Of course, Mr. Shepherd.

MS. ANDERSON:  Any other preliminary matters before we proceed?  Seeing none, can I ask for the affirmations.  Oh, introduce your people first, please, so that she knows who's there.

MR. CASS:  I'm sorry.  Certainly, Madam Chair, thank you.  I will introduce the panel members.  Perhaps this will be an opportunity to introduce them both by name and title so that we don't need to do any examination-in-chief on that.  I will start with the panel member closest to me and work my way across, and then they can all be affirmed.

Closest to me is Mr. Dave Charleson.  He is vice-president, energy supply and customer care with Enbridge Gas.  Next to him is Paul Reitdyk.  He is vice-president, engineering, construction, and storage and transmission operations with Union Gas.  Then we have Mark Kitchen, director, regulatory affairs of Union Gas, Kevin Culbert, manager, regulatory policy and strategy for Enbridge Gas, and finally, Warren Reinisch, director, planning, and forecasting.

Now, just before they are affirmed I would point out the CVs for the witnesses were sent in yesterday, so we won't spend any time in examination-in-chief on the CVs.  I'm not sure if the Board Panel would like to mark those CVs as an exhibit or not at this time.

MR. RITCHIE:  Madam Chair, we can mark those CVs as Exhibit K1.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.1:  CVS OF WITNESSES.

MR. CASS:  And with that the witnesses are ready to be affirmed.  Thank you, Madam Chair.
ENBRIDGE GAS DISTRIBUTION/UNION GAS - PANEL 1: MAADS & RATE MECHANISM POLICY
Dave Charleson,
Paul Reitdyk,
Mark Kitchen,

Kevin Culbert,
Warren Reinisch; Affirmed


MR. CASS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

By way of examination-in-chief, the applicants propose only to have the witnesses accept their evidence -- adopt their evidence under oath, and then we can move on to the cross-examinations.

For the sake of expediency and efficiency, I propose to do that through one witness, through Mr. Kitchen.  I'll just go through the questions to have the evidence adopted, and then we can move on.

Mr. Kitchen, can you confirm for me that this panel overall is responsible, generally speaking, for the applicant's evidence regarding the MAADs and rate mechanism policy, including the parameters and the broader elements of each of those?

MR. KITCHEN:  We are.

MR. CASS:  And was that evidence in those areas prepared by the members of this panel, or under your direction and control?

MR. KITCHEN:  It was.

MR. CASS:  Can you confirm on behalf of the panel that all of that evidence, including answers at the technical conference, are accurate to the best of your knowledge or belief?

MR. KITCHEN:  They are.

MR. CASS:  Thank you.  Madam Chair, the panel is -- that completes the examination-in-chief, and we can move on to cross-examinations.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Mr. Shepherd, I believe you're first.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Madam Chair, there are a number of compendia that have been provided by parties, and I've canvassed the parties and everybody is agreeable, if the Board Panel is, to putting all of them in now as exhibits, so that we can refer to each other's.

So, I would like to start with mine, which is -- has been provided to the panel and is entitled SEC cross-examine materials volume 1.

MR. RITCHIE:  Madam Chair, that can be K1.2.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED "SEC CROSS-EXAMINATION MATERIALS, VOLUME 1"


MR. SHEPHERD:  And then there is one for BOMA.

MR. RITCHIE:  K1.3.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.3:  BOMA CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one for Energy Probe.

MR. RITCHIE:  K1.4
EXHIBIT NO. K1.4:  ENERGY PROBE CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM


MR. SHEPHERD:  And one for CCC.

MR. RITCHIE:  K1.5.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.5:  CCC CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one for Staff.

MR. RITCHIE:  K1.6.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.6:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM

MR. SHEPHERD:  And one for Unifor, I believe.

MR. RITCHIE:  K1.7.
EXHIBIT NO. K1.7:  UNIFOR CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM

MR. SHEPHERD:  And who have I missed?  Oh, yes, FRPO.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd, I'm not sure about the other panel, but I don't have copies of all of those up here.  I am missing -- I have yours, I have OEB Staff, I have BOMA, I have Unifor's, I have other SEC materials.  I am missing several of them.

If I had hard copies of the ones I am missing, that would be very helpful.

UNIDENTIFIED SPEAKER:  I am attempting to do this electronically --

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that means, Madam Chair, you have all of them because they are electronic.

MS. ANDERSON:  It sometimes takes a little longer to call them up.

MR. RITCHIE:  Can someone run through the list again to make sure we --


MS. SPOEL:  Sorry, and I think for CCC.  I don't have the one for CCC.

MS. ANDERSON:  That's correct, I actually don't have that one -- oh, it came in, so I do have it.

MS. SPOEL:  Thank you very much.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

MR. GARNER:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, if I might just -- Madam Chair, it is Mark Garner from VECC.  I just want to know that I do have a compendium.  Because I was later in line, I was kind of thinking it may be a lot shorter.  So I am prepared to produce it sometime this morning, if you'd like, or by this afternoon, in any event.

MR. RITCHIE:  And, Madam Chair, just to be clear, I think I heard Mr. Shepherd add FRPO's compendium as the last one, is that correct?  But we didn't give that one a number, so that would be K1.8.

MR. QUINN:  And this is Dwayne Quinn an behalf of FRPO.  I, like Mr. Garner, have not produced one as of yet, but will this afternoon.  So scratch K1.8.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


MR. SHEPHERD:  I thought it was a good idea.  Witnesses, we all know each other.  I want to -- and I will start by saying, Madam Chair, that because of the short timeframe, I mean I had a cross that was probably ten or fifteen hours when I started.

I have only picked certain subjects to deal with.  Others have been dealt with in the technical conference and the evidence.  But the fact that I'm not dealing with something in cross doesn't mean that we're rolling over and playing dead, we just -- we are trying to be timely.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the first area I want to talk about is I want to get a sense -- and this is probably for you, Mr. Kitchen, or you, Mr. Culbert, although anybody can answer.

I want to get a sense of what you are really asking for here.  And we've included in our materials a discussion we had at the technical conference, in which we talked about whether your ask -- you have approval form amalgamation yet, and the answer is you don't have approval for amalgamation yet, do you, from your boards of directors?

MR. KITCHEN:  Perhaps the best thing for me to do Mr. Shepherd is to take you through the evidence where we actually have the resolutions of the boards of directors.

That's at Exhibit B, tab 1, attachment 7.  You will see -- partway down the page, you will see it starts:
"Resolved that the amalgamation is hereby approved, subject to the determination by each of", and goes on to list the various parties; "that is prudent to proceed with the amalgamation upon consideration of the OEB decisions on the applications"; and that "management is authorized to submit OEB applications along with any necessary ancillary supporting documents to the OEB as soon as possible."

The third one is:
"Any officer or director of EGD or Union is hereby authorized and directed to execute and deliver for and in the name of and on behalf of Enbridge and Union, as the case may be, under corporate seal or otherwise all such certificates, instruments, agreements, notices, affidavits and other documents, and to do all such", et cetera.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, I have to --


MR. KITCHEN:  So that is what's been dealt with by our board of directors.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, Madam Chair, if the witnesses are going to read long documents for every answer to a simple question, I'm not going to get my first subject done in two hours.

So I wonder if I could just get a straight answer.  Has the board of directors of the companies that legally are required to approve an amalgamation, which is not Enbridge Inc., have they approved the amalgamation?

The answer is no, right?  You've already admitted that.

MR. KITCHEN:  What they have approved is the application.  They will an review the Board's decision in its entirety, and determine at that point whether to proceed with the amalgamation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, for example -- so this is a resolution of Enbridge Inc., right?  Enbridge Inc. can't approve the amalgamation legally, can they?

MR. KITCHEN:  You will notice there is also a resolution from each of the boards.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And none of them say we hereby resolve to amalgamate the companies, do they?

MR. KITCHEN:  I think, Mr. Shepherd, it is clear from their resolutions that they have agreed that we can apply for the application, and we will review the decision in its entirety and then make a decision whether or not to proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I understand that what that means is that if the Board's decision in this case is not -- I mean, obviously if they just give you everything you've asked for, then you'll amalgamate, right?  That's the plan.

MR. KITCHEN:  If we were to get everything that we asked for out of this decision, then we proceed, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But if you get something less, then you are going to decide whether you like the decision or not and decide whether to amalgamate, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  We will review the decision and decide whether or not it is prudent for us to proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we had this discussion at the technical conference, and you don't mean prudence in the regulatory sense, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  I mean prudent from the position of the EGD -- sorry, of the EI board, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so, for example, you've already decided that, I think, that if you are required to rebase in 2020 then you are not going to amalgamate; right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, we would have to consider the whole decision, but if we were not going to be -- if we were required to rebase then it is unlikely that we would amalgamate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And similarly -- what was the other one?  I'm looking for it now.  If you were required to share earnings, starting on year one, then you'd say, well, no, we can't do that either, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure I can say that or speculate on that, Mr. Shepherd.  I think we need to see the entire decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You see, here's why I'm following up on that.  I asked at the technical conference, is there a precedence for this.  Normally when the Board is asked to approve an amalgamation, the boards of directors of the companies have already said yes, and here you're saying, well, no, this is sort of maybe.

What -- basically you're saying to the Board:  What conditions would we have to live with if we amalgamate, and that doesn't sound like a -- what the Board does for a living.  I'm trying to understand this.  So can you help me understand why you think this is okay?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, Mr. Shepherd, it is clear that to the extent that we get a Board decision that would mean that we were no long -- we couldn't be financially viable as utilities, then we would have to consider at that time whether or not we would proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But presumably, the Board has to consider that when they make a decision, whether -- that's one of their requirements in the act.  So they'll have already decided that you are financially viable when they make the decision.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think that ultimately our board has to determine whether or not it's prudent to proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I wonder if I could take you then to page 6 of our materials.  So this is the most recent DBRS report on Union Gas.

And by the way, just before I get to the quote in it, if you look at page 5, you said -- we asked you for the updated reports and you refused to give us the S&P report.  Can you now undertake to provide that?

MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I believe those have been provided.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I haven't seen it.  Where is --


MR. CASS:  My understanding, it is the updated response to CCC -- I'm sorry, SEC Interrogatory No. 20.  My apologies.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You did an updated response?  Because I haven't seen it.

MR. CASS:  I can't respond to the second part of Mr. Shepherd's proposition, but, yes, there was an updated response.  I'm assuming that Bonnie can get it up on the screen for us.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, and can I just see?  So this is all the rating reports, right, now, they're all there.  Thank you.

MR. CULBERT:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'll go to the Board's website and find it.

So on page 6, DBRS says that you filed for approval of an amalgamation, and if you decide -- but then you going to decide based on an assessment of the regulatory approvals whether you want to proceed with it, and if you don't, Union will file a five-year incentive regulation framework application for 2019 and beyond.  So is that still the case?

MR. REINISCH:  So based on the discussions with DBRS that took place subsequent to the filing of the application before the Board today, there was discussion about the alternative to filing an amalgamation, and the alternative that was modelled in the application and discussed with Dr. DBRS was to file a custom IR framework.

With our current framework coming to an expiration on December 31st, 2018, there would need to be some sort of framework in place for 2019 and beyond, and that is what is referred to here --


MR. SHEPHERD:  DBRS got that from you, right?  They didn't make this up.

MR. REINISCH:  Given the timing of when the decision is expected in this case and our ability to pull together a five-year IR framework application, it is unlikely that we would be able to file such an application in time for 2019.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So then what is the plan if you are -- if you're not filing, if you don't get approval and terms you like?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, if we were not to proceed with the amalgamation, then we would make a proposal to the Board for setting rates for '19 and begin to work on an application for EGD and for Union to be filed during 2019 so they can be heard as soon as possible in 2020, and then just rates based on that basis from 2021 and beyond.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, just so -- you'd file in 2020 for rates in '21 and beyond?

MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, we would file in '19, 2019.  It would probably take us much of the year to get a 20 -- the rates application for the five-year period in 2020.  We would expect that the rates application would be heard for implementation January 1st, 2021.  That is really just estimates of timing, in terms of how we would proceed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would it take you all of this year to file the -- to prepare for the application?  You've got all the numbers, right?  You provided them to the Board.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, if we were filing a five-year custom IR we would have to update our forecast, obviously, and make an application on that basis.  We're not in the position to file a custom IR for either company at this point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, just before I leave this DBRS report -- this is sort of a side issue, but if you look at page 7 of our materials, DBRS says -- in February of 2018 they say they "anticipate that Union's earnings will likely improve in the near-term as a result of customer growth", blah, blah, blah, "and major capital projects placed in service in 2017."

So is that correct, by the way?  Is that what you currently expect, is the 2018 year Union's earnings will improve?

MR. REINISCH:  With respect to metrics such as EBIDTA and EBIT, that's correct, as the 2017 projects that were placed into service late last year have a full year of earnings, the expectation is that earnings by those metrics will improve.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so those projects are not regulated projects, right?

MR. REINISCH:  No, those two projects -- the Dawn-to-Parkway 2017 expansion is a regulated project, as is the Panhandle expansion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So they are in your capital tracker thing.  The additional earnings come from your capital tracker.

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct, both of those projects are capital pass-through projects.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  And is this also expected that Enbridge's earnings will improve in 2018?  This is only about Union.  I'm asking whether it's true for Enbridge too, because that's my understanding.  I'm asking if it's true.

MR. CULBERT:  That Enbridge's earnings will improve in '18, relative to 2017?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it will.  Our rate model, which the Board approved, has an increase in rate base and equity and therefore earnings in 2018 because of the capital spend and the equity position, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.

MR. CULBERT:  Those have already been approved by the Board in our custom IR application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, you understand that this sort of buffet approach to regulation strikes us all as unusual, or some of us as unusual.

Did you talk about that when you invited the Chair of the Board and the chief operating officer of the Board to attend at your offices and talk about the application?  And just before you get to the answer, can you also confirm that the attendees at that meeting, aside from the Chair of the Board and the chief operating officer, were Mr. Baker, Mr. Sanders, the two CEOs of the two amalgamating companies, and their boss, Ms. Hanson?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, the first thing I'd like to understand, Mr. Shepherd, is your reference to a buffet approach.  I'm not sure exactly what you mean by that, and I wouldn't mind understanding that before I answer.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, do we like this decision or not?  No, maybe we'll have mangoes instead.  That's the buffet approach.

MR. KITCHEN:  Okay, Mr. Shepherd, I think what I've been very clear on is that we need to take a look at the decision in its entirety before we make a decision to proceed.

And that is prudent of the board of directors, because they made this decision to proceed with the application at a point in time.  They need to see that Board's decision and assess whether or not to proceed.

In response to the second question around the meeting that took place at the Bay Street office, first of all, I'm not sure whether I would characterize it that the Board Chair and counsel was invited to the office, or whether it was just decided that was a convenient place to meet.

And then thirdly, in terms of who was present at the meeting, it would have been the Board Chair, senior counsel, Ms. Hanson, Mr. Baker and Mr. Sanders.

And then finally, the purpose of the meeting was to inform the -- inform the Chair and counsel that we were proceeding with amalgamation.  I don't know if anything further was discussed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  No minutes were taken at that meeting?

MR. KITCHEN:  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And as far as you know, there is no written record of it?

MR. KITCHEN:  As far as I know.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you.  The -- I'm right, am I not, that you've said -- and I'm looking at page 9 of our materials -- that if the Board only gives you a five-year deferral, a rebasing deferral period, you say management would be unable to proceed with the amalgamation as proposed.  That's correct, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's the response to CCC 1.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I right in saying then that the Board's decision -- if the Board decides deferral period is five years, they're effectively saying no to your request to amalgamate because you are not going to.

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think we should read that response in that way.  First of all, what it says is that it would not proceed as proposed and outlined in the evidence.  We'd have to consider, again, the full decision of the Board and whether or not to proceed.

What would be different is the level of integration that we would be able to achieve over the five years.  What would be different is the level of investment we'd be able to make.  I think it would look very different than the $680 million that we're projecting as savings over the ten-year deferred rebasing period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  So there is just one other thing I want to understand about this.  This whole notion that the Board decides what it wants and then Enbridge has the final say seems odd.

But there's two applications here, right?  One is the amalgamation and the other is an application to set rates.

Am I right that once the Board decides what your rates are going to be over the next whatever period of time it decides, you don't have a choice with that?  That's the decision, you're done -- unless you appeal it of  it, of course?


MR. KITCHEN:  The way I would look at it, Mr. Shepherd, is there are two applications, yes.  One is to amalgamate under section 43.  The other application is under section 36 to set a rate-setting mechanism that would apply over the deferred rebasing period.

I don't think it is out of our -- or it's not within our ability, if we don't get an application that allows us to proceed, to request the Board to set rates in a different way for '19, and then bring forward an application to set rates over the next five years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm not sure I understand that.  If the Board says the formula for your rates for the next five years, let's say, is X, that's how we're going to do it.  How can you say no, you know what, we're going to come in for something different?  We don't like it.


MR. KITCHEN:  We can apply to come in for something different, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right.  So you talk about the ten-year rebasing and you say it's going to take you ten years -- I'm looking at page 10 of our materials.  It is going to take you ten years to get all the benefits.

It is just because you call it a -- call them deep, meaningful and lasting improvements, and we're going to talk about whether you can do those without having a deferred rebasing.

But I want to ask a different question, and the different question is: Why couldn't we pay the $150 million cost, the ratepayers, and get the $680 million of savings?  Why not?  It sounds like a good deal.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, the proposal or the hypothetical that you've put to us, you know, is something that could be done.

However, it's our view that the MAADs policy which was -- we recognize was originally established to encourage consolidations amongst electricity LDCs, applies to gas utilities as well.

The principles of that policy are to provide the amalgamating companies with the appropriate incentives to make those deep, meaningful savings by investing into technology and investing in process change and that is, from our perspective, the better way to do it.  It's the more efficient way to do it.  It doesn't require any sort of proceedings around how much cost gets built into rates, were those costs prudently incurred, whether or not those savings actually materialized.  We take the risk for the investments and we do that over the ten-year deferment rebasing period with the intent to be able to also recoup those costs.

In the end, ratepayers get the benefit.

MR. REINISCH:  I'd like to what add something that I hope might be helpful here as well.

What we've presented in our evidence, in our proposal here, is an entire business plan over a period of time, ten years, with both cost investments made by the company and savings that are associated with those costs.  And that business plan is something that was developed internally; it was presented to our board of directors and we're presenting the same thing here in our application.

And so it's the whole of that application that we have before the Board for consideration.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's exactly where I was going, thank you.  You have a business plan that says here's how much we need to spend on capital, here's how much we need to spend on operating costs.

Why can't the Board simply say, okay, your rates are set based on that?  For the next ten years, that's what your rates are going to be.  We're going to be taking all the risks for the investments and we're going to get all the benefits, and if you don't make the investments, then you won't be able to live with those rates.  Why couldn't we do that?

MR. CULBERT:  Mr. Shepherd, I hate to stand on a soap box, but our proposition is aligned with the Board's policy which evolved over a period of time from 2007 through 2015.  The Board's initial policy was incented to drive consolidation, which would result in significant savings, cost savings -- in the electricity sector, granted.

In 2015 -- so from 2007 to '15, I don't believe there were any consolidation applications because there was no incentive for entities to go forward with consolidations.

The Board amended its policy in 2015 and said, through a consultative, that the electricities came to the Board and said you know what, we don't see the upside in this for us, and there were no applications until the Board made changes in the 2015 amended policy.

Subsequent to that, they've had numerous applications for this because there was a proper incentive in our minds for consolidate entities to consolidate.  There is a risk reward involved in this.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Here's what I don't understand.  You've already got Union, so they don't need to incent that; it's already done.

MR. CULBERT:  You are referring to the Enbridge Inc. corporate buying Spectra.  We, EGD, have not purchased Union at all.

They are two separate utilities run in Ontario, regulated in Ontario.  One entity owns the two companies; that's the extent of it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't it your obligation as running a regulated utility to find every way you can to drive down cost?

MR. CULBERT:  Our responsibility through the RRF, which the Board has various principles and goals, is to achieve -- continuous improvement is one of the goals.  I agree with that.

What we're saying is we've both been through periods of -- fifteen years of incentive regulation.  We've achieved many of the productivities that we can as separate entities.  This is an opportunity to drive out even further synergies and savings by amalgamating.

Again, back to the Board's policy:  The Board recognized when it amended its policy, in our view, in 2015, that there needs to be an incentive for organizations to consider amalgamating and driving out that highest level of savings.

If there is no incentive for the company -- it is like incentive regulation.  We changed to incentive regulation because we thought cost of service wasn't necessarily producing the best result.  Management wasn't doing things to the greatest extent that they could.  That's my view of incentive regulation.  I'm not sure if you'd take the same view.  And we view this as being the same thing.  If you want to drive out the greatest level of savings, this is the best model for doing that.  It's a win-win situation.  Ratepayers get a $410 million reduction in rates versus status quo.  They don't have to pay for the $150 million in capital investment.  The company has to drive out $680 million in synergies over that same term to generate on a net basis $120 million of potential savings and earnings to a degree.  And then at the end of the ten-year term, the ratepayers get that additional $120 million put back to rates.  It is a win-win situation.  It incents us to do the best job possible.  Without that incentive, we saw before, electricity didn't come forward until there was an incentive for them to do so.  We're in the same boat.

MR. SHEPHERD:  How is it in the interest of the ratepayers to propose to increase their rates 2.4 percent a year when you are assuming 1.7 percent inflation?

MR. CULBERT:  Again, the price cap mechanism is the protection mechanism that the Board has figured is the appropriate method for setting rates during a consolidation.  The price cap is that protective mechanism.  That's what we're applying under.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I didn't ask you that question.  I asked you, how is it in the ratepayers' benefit to have their rates increase by about 140 percent of inflation for the next ten years?  How is that in their interest?

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, the 2.4 percent that you quote is a combination of both the inflation -- the inflation factor and the ICM assumptions that we made.  We will go through annual reviews of -- for setting rates, each year the ten-year deferred rebasing period, and whatever we bring forward outside of the -- outside of the price cap itself will be subject to a review by the Board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could turn to page 11 of our materials.  So your forecast to your board of directors is that you will slightly over-earn relative to allowed ROE; right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct, by approximately 20 basis points.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's what you are hoping will happen. That's the 110 million that you're talking about, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so you proposed an ESM that starts in year six and only kicks in at 300 basis points over allowed ROE, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So why wouldn't you, instead, since you your projection is that you are going to earn 20 basis points over, and you're fine with that, why wouldn't you share earnings above 20 basis points?

MR. RIETDYK:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, it goes back to exactly what Mr. Culbert was talking about.  The earnings sharing mechanism is part of the incentive for the utility to make its investments and to achieve as great a savings as possible for ratepayers.

In order to achieve that 20 basis points on average, that requires us to take -- to make $680 million in savings over the ten-year period, which is no small amount.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah, I guess my question is this:  You went to your board of directors, you said:  Our upside is 20 basis points average over allowed ROE for the next ten years.  Should we do this?  And they said:  Yeah, let's do it.

So my question is, if that's enough, if 20 basis points is enough for your boards, why isn't it enough for this Board?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, I go back to our original response.  The earnings sharing mechanism is intended to provide an incentive to make deep and meaningful savings, and it is also asymmetric.  And to the extent that we are able to achieve beyond the 20 basis points over the deferred rebasing period, that, again, will go back to the benefit of ratepayers at a future point.

But the whole purpose of the earnings sharing mechanism which has been approved by the Board in other proceedings and is referenced in the Board policy is to provide the appropriate incentives to utilities to make those investments and get the savings.

In fact, if you look at Staff 37, Staff 37 we refer to the fact that the Board has acknowledged that inappropriate earnings sharing mechanism will result in a disincentive to those initiatives.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When Enbridge acquired Spectra was there an implicit premium in the cost of Union Gas?

MR. KITCHEN:  Not that we're aware of.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So, you see, the reason I ask that is because when somebody acquires an electricity distributor there is often a premium, so you have to cover not only your transaction costs, but also -- and your investments in the consolidation, but also your premium in that ten-year period.

And if you -- if you don't have a premium, then why would you need ten years?

MR. RIETDYK:  So the merger contemplated -- the merger of both Spectra Energy and Enbridge at the time was primarily focused on the gas transmission group in the U.S. and Canada as well as the liquids group in the U.S. and Canada, and the synergies that were associated between those two organizations.  Union and Enbridge Gas Distribution were viewed as being out of scope at the time and continue to be out of scope, knowing that it would be a bit of a process to go through and that any synergies between -- that might be realized between Union and Enbridge would be subject to regulatory approval down the road.

MR. SHEPHERD:  When the merger took place, in fact, there was no analysis of any savings that might occur in gas distribution, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, now, you talked already again about the $680 million, which sounds like lots, it's great.

It's true that if you don't have the approval that you asked for there will still be savings, right?  It is not 680 or zero.

MR. CULBERT:  There will be savings relative to what scenario, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  To them -- the two companies not being under common control?

MR. CULBERT:  Sure, sure, we've discussed in various interrogatories and undertakings at the technical conference, there are certain services that are overseen by individuals overseeing services in both entities.

Now, those are limited at this point in time, so there would be some savings from that, and if we were to -- and as Mr. Kitchen pointed out, we don't know what we would necessarily be coming back with in terms of a furthering of shared services, but there could be some savings from that type of -- but they would be nowhere near what we are projecting the savings to be inside of the full amalgamation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you have this comparison in your materials of stand-alone versus Amalco, and stand-alone assumes zero savings, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Stand-alone assumes the two entities continue as separate utilities just as they are right now, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, but that's -- there is also -- there is savings because of common control.  You've assumed zero for that, right, in that stand-alone forecast, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we've answered again numerous undertakings, interrogatories, where we have not yet been given the final cost allocation from corporate, but we don't know what the impact of that would be necessarily, but...

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so you know zero is the wrong number, but that's the number you used for the savings, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, because, again, we don't know what the corporate allocations will be to each of the entities.  It could be that there's some savings that roll through whatever the allocation is to EGD.  It could be that Union's cost allocation is different increase versus what they receive now from Spectra.  We don't know at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't what the corporate allocations will be for Amalco, do you?

MR. CULBERT:  No, we don't.  That's the point.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you found your $680 million number.  Why's that?

MR. CULBERT:  The $680 million comes from, as we pointed out, our estimate, high-level estimate, of savings that could be achieved through full amalgamation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you haven't done an estimate for what happens if you didn't have that same full amalgamation but you still have common control for the next ten years.

MR. CULBERT:  No, we don't have that type of estimate, that's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Could do you it --


MR. KITCHEN:  And, Mr. Shepherd, what you are referring to, the 410 million, is the no harm test.  And our interpretation of the no harm test is that you compare the status quo to the price-setting mechanism under the amalgamation.

That's what we've done.  That's the $410 million, and the status quo would be Union and Enbridge operating separately.

MR. CULBERT:  We are not comparing to a different model than what currently exists, and we believe the no harm test does not require that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What currently exists is you have two utilities under common management, right?  They are owned by the same company.

MR. CULBERT:  They are owned by the same parent, sure.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You've already started to integrate some of the functions, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  At the corporate level, yes.

MR. CULBERT:  Some at the corporate level and there are some services -- parties that are overseeing certain functions in both entities.  But those are not significant areas, Mr. Shepherd.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Not yet.  But could be, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Again, depending on the Board's decision in this proceeding, we would need to make a determination as to how to proceed going forward, and we don't haven't done that analysis.  That would take a considerable amount of time to do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  I wonder if you could go to page 17 of our materials.  We ask what have you done so far to rationalize your activities between the two utilities, and what we're trying to determine is what's the difference between -- from the customer's point of view, from a cost point of view, between the amalgamation proposal that you've made with this long deferral and conventional rebasing, because you've assumed the rebasing is zero but of course it's not zero; it's something, right?

So I wonder if we could just take a look at this list.  This is a list of sort of the main areas in which you could have savings, right?

MR. REINISCH:  This would be a list of, I'll say, the major functional areas within both enterprises.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And this is the two regulated enterprises, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So business development, you haven't done anything yet.  But you could, right?  You don't need an amalgamation to do that.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINISCH:  Again, business development is an area that is, I'll say, very large in scope for both entities, and there may be some potential to realize some integration of the functions.  But again, it would be one of those challenging aspects that there aren't a significant amount of costs in that area that we'd be able to streamline.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't business development one of the things that Enbridge Inc. supplies services to Enbridge Gas Distribution under the RCAM?

MR. REINISCH:  There are certain business development functions that Enbridge Inc. does provide to the utilities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Enbridge Inc. could provide them to Union as well, right?

MR. REINISCH:  My expectation is if Enbridge Inc. provided that functions to the utilities, it would simply be a shifting of costs from locally incurred direct costs at the utility level to services that are procured from the parent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Because you've done an analysis of that?

MR. REINISCH: No, the analysis has not been conducted.  But based on my experience working in the business development group for many years at Union Gas, at the end of the day, the business development group is out working with customers, working with potential customers to find ways to grow our regulated business.  That involves discussions with stakeholders, discussions with potential customers, and then obviously all of the other business development functions.

That work would still need to be done, whether it's done here in Ontario by a business development group that's at Union Gas or whether it's done in Calgary, that work would still need to be done.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that's done in Toronto by the same people who are doing it for Enbridge?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, the challenge that you have with amalgamation is one of capacity, that when you look at both utilities, they serve 3.4 million customers along with a number of potential customers, when you think of the regulated transmission business.  At the end of the day, you still need individuals working on projects.  There is a certain limit to how much projects any single individual can work on.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Business development is one of the areas in which, in an amalgamation, you think you can save some money, right?

MR. REINISCH:  There may be a potential scope to save some money.  But again, it is difficult to say the extent.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And then customer care, customer care is a big expense for both utilities, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's like -- are you close enough to microphone, Mr. Charleson?

MR. CHARLESON:  Is it working now?  I've got unique technology, so it's challenging.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You still have DOS on your computer, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  Yeah.  Sorry, perhaps could you repeat the question.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a big area.  Customer care is a big area in both utilities, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that the annual cost of customer care in both utilities is in the order of what, a couple hundred million dollars?

MR. CHARLESON:  It is about 150 million.

MR. SHEPHERD:  150 million.  So in an amalgamation, that is one of the big areas where you think you can get some savings, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And part of it is technology;, that is you can standardize your platform and you can have standardized approaches to the IT component of it, right?  That's a big saving.

MR. CHARLESON:  That would be something that would support -- that would help provide a platform that would support savings under amalgamation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And also you can save on the people because you can use them more efficiently, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  Yes, you have the opportunity where some -- you can drive some economies of scale by looking at 2.3 million for both as two discrete groups, largely more with the management and oversight.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you also have some savings from billing.  Billing is part of customer care, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  The savings that we would expect to see through billing are predominantly through increased adoption of e-bill, so reducing the number of paper bills being issued.  And we believe that through amalgamation, you can employ greater strategies to try to drive greater e-bill adoption than if you're doing that independently.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So if you go to page 25, we asked you about this in the technical conference, of course, which is why I'm asking now because I want to move it forward.

And we talked about the movie in your mind, a single customer care operation or a distributed one, which is integrated so that you can save a bunch of money, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  Correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so we asked, well, why can't you do that without an amalgamation?  And we didn't really get -- you said theoretically you can, but we really didn't nail down, well, why don't you, then.  Maybe you can help.

MR. CHARLESON:  And I think as we talked about in the technical conference, under, say, more of a shared services model as opposed to an amalgamation, there's going to be other limitations that are going to restrict the degree of benefits that you are able to achieve, one of the more significant ones being the Affiliate Relationships Code.

As two separate entities, we would be governed and have to work within the Affiliate Relationships Code, which does place some constraints, especially when it comes to sharing or use of customer information.

So there's extra steps that you would need to put in place to ensure that you've got that appropriate separation and segregation of customer information --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Let me stop you there, because this Board could in one statement say, well, we understand you're under common ownership, you don't need to comply with that requirement.  We are going to save $50 million a year by letting you treat it all as one.

They could do that, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  It would be within the purview of the Board to adjust the Affiliate Relationships Code, correct.  However, we also have very different processes that we use today in terms of how we serve customers.  We have different operating models that we do for customer care.  And to the extent that you are operating as well two different bills, you could over time move towards a single format.

But again, our belief and our view is that you get the greatest synergies and the greatest benefits through amalgamation.  That's what achieves best outcome for our customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  One of the things you do in customer care when you merge the two activities, the Union and Enbridge activities, is you go through and you identify which utility has the best practices, or indeed, do we both need to change to a new best practice, right?  That's one of the parts of the process, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  Yes,.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, whether or not you amalgamate, you're going to do that anyway, right?  You are going to be looking at Union -- and Enbridge is going to be looking at Union and saying, well, you're doing this and that's better than how we do it.  We've got to do it that way, right?

MR. CHARLESON:  I would expect that outside of amalgamation, would you still look towards best practices, just as we are always looking at best practices within the industry.  However, to get the greatest benefit for customers, we believe that amalgamation is --


MS. ANDERSON:  Just hold on.  People are having a hard time hearing again.  I don't know if it is the microphone
-- it's on, but...

MR. CHARLESON:  I have to lean right into it.

MS. ANDERSON:  Speak up.

MR. CHARLESON:  Sorry.  And I've lost my train of thought.  Again, we believe that -- you know, the amalgamation scenario is what provides the greatest benefits, because it removes a lot of the potential barriers or challenges that you face by trying to operate as two separate entities --


MR. SHEPHERD:  So --


MR. CHARLESON:  And maybe I can provide some assistance here as well, and there is a very thorough discussion on this in BOMA 16, where we go through all the different potential synergies and what the plan would be.


So what we're talking about for customer care in the other functions is aligning our systems and our business processes to make deep, meaningful impacts and provide those savings over the long-term.  To do it over the short-term would require individual business cases for each one those functions to look at it, and they would have to stand alone, and what we provide as a business case that in totality represents what we believe is in the best interests of both customers and the shareholders.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but I wasn't asking the question short-term versus long-term, I was asking the question:  Why haven't you already started doing this?  These are things you could do now.  You've been merged now for 16 months, 15 months, something like that.  What's taking you so long?  Why aren't you doing any of this already?

MR. RIETDYK:  Mr. Shepherd, we have been merged, yes, since February 27th of '17, and prior to that, we weren't able to even talk to each other about the merger.  Once we merged we then proceeded down the path of looking at an amalgamation under the MAADs policy, and that's what we've been focused on, and we developed a high-level business plan, a high-level plan, that would provide benefits to ratepayers based on the MAADs policy.

That's what we're doing.  We're now in the proceeding, and we're waiting for the Board's decision before we start to actually do the detailed planning, because that will happen, as we've said in our evidence, and in presentations to our Board.  Once we have the Board's decision and we decide to proceed, we will set up a project management office and we will embark on the detailed planning, execution, and the implementation to bring those savings to customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's why I -- that's what I'm trying to understand, is some of these things you could do today.  You don't need the Board to say:  Okay, you can just do it.  Some of these improvements, best practices, and things like that, you could do them today, and I don't understand why you're waiting.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINISCH:  So Mr. Shepherd, the objective of this amalgamation proposal is to deliver sustained cost structure savings to ratepayers.  That is the long-term objective of this merger.  Through 15 years of continuous productivity improvements, both Union Gas and Enbridge, over the last number of IR terms, a lot of those, I'll say, small improvements, including some of the decent-size improvements, have already been made.

The challenge that faces us right now is in order to make significant improvements we need to make some significant investments to re-engineer processes, to change the way we do things, not just incrementally improve them, and so in order to do those investments, in order to make those investments, there needs to be a business case.  There needs to be -- from the company's perspective, there needs to be a way to recover that investment and be compensated for the risks associated with that investment.  We believe that the proposal, the MAADs proposal that we are putting forth today, is that proposal that will allow us to do that.

So as far as doing some of those small, little incremental, that isn't very much different than what both utilities have been doing.  They sit on a number of different groups, a number of different associations, that look for ways to make productivity improvements, to improve business processes, and to realize cost savings that eventually get passed on to customers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that wasn't what I was asking, though.  What I was asking was:  You have a common owner, so this is not sitting on an interesting committee and saying, oh, should we do that?  No, this is a common parent being able to say, you are doing it better than you are, so you change.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think if go back to your original question:  Why aren't you doing it now?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, if you look at BOMA 16D, one of the things you will notice is the number and -- the number of systems and the differences between the number of systems that we have, and there's lots of interdependencies between those systems.

We can't just simply start looking at customer care and move forward.  What we need to do is to take an approach that looks at all the systems and how we will integrate those systems, what is the best timing for implementing those systems, and how do they all integrate with each other.

It is not a small undertaking, which is why, again, I go back to the fact that why we need a ten-year deferred rebasing period, because of the nature and complexity of the amalgamation and the technology involved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have a plan for how to save money if you amalgamate, right?  That's the one you presented to the Board.

MR. KITCHEN:  We have a high-level plan, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you gone through that plan and said, which of these things can we do now?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KITCHEN:  No, and I go back to my answer I've already given, that we haven't done detailed planning, and we will commence that once we have the Board's decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You have made some changes, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, but will we -- again...

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're not on.

MR. CULBERT:  I'm trying to -- let me try again.  Can you hear me now?

I'll try to provide some insights.  The discussion was around your merged entities now.  That's not the case.  We, EGD, are not merged entities, the parents merge, and it's a common ownership, to your point.  We're affiliates.  We can't go making these changes without applying to the Board under the Affiliate Relationships Code and structuring service-level agreements in order to do all of this work and comply by all of the requirements of ARC.  So we couldn't do the things that you're saying that we can do under amalgamation.  We could apply to do them, but not to the extent that we could do them under amalgamation.  It is a completely different animal.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you can have can't have a common training centre for your customer care staff, and you can't have a common script that they work from.  Those are things that you can't do, right?

MR. CULBERT:  You could have, again, a structure where you have service-level agreements between the two entities, ensuring that you are properly transferring costs, et cetera, but we don't have that information in terms of how it would look and how we could go about that.  And we'd have to apply to the Board to do that.  We can't just do it.  And you say, why aren't you doing it right now?  We can't do that right now without applying to the Board, approval to do that.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And why is that?  When you changed the services from EI to EGD under RCAM, did you apply to the Board?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, could you repeat your question, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  When you changed the services that EI was giving to EGD under RCAM, did you apply to the Board?  Because you have changed them, but I didn't see any application.

MR. CULBERT:  You have changed them in which year, like, in past years, Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  The last couple of years.

MR. CULBERT:  Well, we went through the process, the Board-approved process, of RCAM, the amounts that are includable, inside of the utilities' financial results, and we've gone through those process.  The Board in our CIR -- custom IR decision said, yes, they believed it was sufficient that the company continue to follow that RCAM process, and we have done that.  So we have complied with the Board's directions.  We did receive approval through the Board's custom IR decision, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have been able to change those services, haven't you?

MR. CULBERT:  Those serveries have changed relative to things that have happened between EI and EG.  I'll give you an example.  HR services to a degree used to exist at EGD in their entirety.  They do not exist in their entirety in EGD any more.  Some of it is Enbridge Inc.

To Mr. Reinisch's point before, is while we see an increase in costs at the corporate level for HR, we've had a reduction in EGD's cost for HR services.  They balance out almost to a penny.  Actually, there is a slight benefit to the company from that process.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are going to do that with Union too, aren't you?

MR. CULBERT:  I can't speak to what's going to happen in terms of corporate allocations to Union.  We don't know at this point in time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, are they getting their services from Spectra still?

MR. RIETDYK:  So I can speak to that in that previously at Union we received our HR services from Spectra Energy.  They were not held within Union Gas.  So to the extent that we now get them from Enbridge, there is no material difference.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, there is a difference, right?  You have changed where you're getting the services from, because you are under common ownership, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  In either case we are getting them from our parent company.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Precisely.  Okay.  I just want to run through these examples and make sure I understand where there are potentials for savings with and without amalgamation.

Distribution operations, clearly that's something that you can save money by having a common working asset management system and things like that, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct, and we've identified some potential savings and investment that's required to get there.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in fact, your $680 million number only includes the IT side, right?  It doesn't include any of the field operations savings that you could have, even though there could be some, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  I think what we've identified and discussed even at the technical conference is that the savings were primarily identified on the back shop, office and optimization of third-party contracts.

There is some potential down the road for field operations to have some savings, although that would be in year six to ten, and we haven't identified any specific savings associated with that and believe that they're fairly minor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Why would it not be until years six to ten?  The reason I ask that is you have quite a lot of contiguous geographic areas where you should be able to serve each other's areas quite efficiently.  Isn't that true?

MR. RIETDYK:  So this is an area that has already gone under extensive productivity improvements, both Union and EGD.  Our areas are adjacent to one another right now and to the extent that we amalgamate those two functions, turning a wrench or digging a hole isn't going to be any faster just simply by amalgamating.

Where we might potentially save some time down the road is in travel time on those adjacent areas, but that's only along those adjacencies; that's fairly minor.  We serve a big province in the widespread geographic area, so the savings are not significant.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You could also consolidate some field operating centres, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  Potentially, but then you'd have to look at trade-off with travel time, and that's something we do on an ongoing basis.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Of course.  Engineering; do you still have two engineering departments?

MR. RIETDYK:  Yes, we do.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you get some services from EI as well for engineering?

MR. RIETDYK:  For engineering?  No.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No?  That's interesting.  And so why do you still have two engineering shops?  I would have thought that it's pipes.  I mean, you -- both your engineering departments know how to do this.

MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct, we follow same codes and standards.  But within those, we have different operating procedures.  So those operating procedures have evolved over time, two very mature utilities with two very different operating procedures, maintenance procedures, and it's going to take sometime before we can bring those together.

The focus was bringing together some of those big operations, distribution work management, customer care, ERP system, and we'd be looking at some of the --engineering and other functions later.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the 680 million doesn't include any savings from engineering, does it?

MR. RIETDYK:  No, it does.  It includes some savings from engineering.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Do you know how much?  I didn't see it in the charts I saw, but maybe I missed it.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. RIETDYK:  That would be included in other Functions.  So if you refer to BOMA 16, attachment 1, page 10 of 20.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. RIETDYK:  We're going to have to also amalgamate some systems, bring some of the systems together and then you'll see some savings there associated with engineering and other functions as well.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So then the safety and reliability function, which is -- that's separate from distribution operations, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  What does it mean to work with the enterprise strategy?  Is that a strategy from EI?

MR. RIETDYK:  There is an enterprise safety and operational reliability group that sets strategy and policy for all of Enbridge.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So Union Gas is already getting services from them?

MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.  Previously, Union Gas would have received similar services from Spectra Energy.  Spectra Energy had a very similar group.  So now that has been consolidated at the Enbridge Inc. level.

So again, there is for us before we got those services from Spectra Energy, now we receive those services from Enbridge Inc.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are already saving some money there?  You didn't double the size of the EI group?

MR. RIETDYK:  No, I'm not sure exactly what that amount would be.  That would be done through the affiliate transactions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Union was paying about, what, $17 million a year to Spectra for services; am I in the right range?  I don't have it in front of me.

MR. REINISCH:  It is probably 17 to 18 million dollars a year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And Enbridge is currently paying in the $50 million range to EI?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes.  That's from the RCAM perspective, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But Enbridge is receiving a lot more services from EI than Union ever did from Spectra, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So I assume that Union is now going to start to be getting those services from Enbridge Inc. Regardless of whether you amalgamate, they are going to have to get those services, the same way as RCAM works, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  As part of the shared service harmonization, that work is ongoing and will be finalized before the end of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And the reason do you that is to save money?

MR. REINISCH:  The reason that -- sorry, the reason -- again, it's an organizational decision on where to structure different areas of work in order to most efficiently carry out that work.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so because it's more efficient to do it in EI, as an overall entity -- enterprise, you save money by doing it there, right?  That's why you do it?

MR. REINISCH:  That is the theory, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you're going to have that done by the end of the year, in place by the end of the year?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, for 2018 cost allocations, we will have that work done by the end of the year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome.  Finance is another one that was centralized at EI, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is only partially correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Maybe you could explain.

MR. REINISCH:  I would be happy to.  So finances is one of the groups identified in BOMA 16, attachment 1, as a utility shared services.  So there is a certain element of finance function that resides in the utility, so there would be a finance function that supports Enbridge as a client, Gas Distribution, and there is a finance function that would support Union Gas as a client.

Those are specific to each utility.  They help prepare financial statements for the utilities, they help with management accounting, they help all finance needs for the utilities.

Then there was also an overarching finance function at EI.  So there are certain finance functions, audit and others, that are carried out at the EI level in an effort to realize synergies for those functions.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, somebody from Chatham doesn't go talk to DBRS any more, right?  Somebody from the finance department at EI talks to DBRS.

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  Somebody from the finance function at EI would -- from the treasury group at EI would have the relationship with DBRS.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So finance is treasury, accounting --  what else?

MR. REINISCH:  Audit.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Audit.  So that's another thing that surprised me is Enbridge and Union don't have -- their boards of directors don't have audit committees, do they?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  We rely on the audit committee of the Enbridge Inc. board.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And there are -- technically, there are auditors for those two companies, because you have to have auditors, right, to audit your financial statements.

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Those auditors are directed by EI, aren't they?  They are the shareholder?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINISCH:  So the auditors for Union Gas will be directed by the board of directors of Union Gas.  The auditors for EGD would be accountable to the board of directors of EGD.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, no.  The auditors are never accountable to the board of directors.  They are always accountable to the shareholders.

MR. REINISCH:  Sorry, my apologies.  They would get direction from -- they are independent, third-party auditors, so they would have the relationship with the board of directors, not the audit committee of EI.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, I don't see how that could be because you are required to have an audit committee, and your audit committee is upstream.  Auditors have to report to an audit committee.  It's a law.  I don't understand how they could report to the board of directors, which is basically all management people anyway.

MR. REINISCH:  It's my under -- sorry, the auditors report -- sorry, the terminology you are using is a little different.  Report to?  So the audit committee of Enbridge Inc. would have the oversight and work with the auditors, the independent, third-party auditors that audit both the Enbridge Inc., the Union Gas and the Enbridge Gas Distribution audited financial statements.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's already true, right?  So to the extent that there's any financial savings in that -- and there probably aren't, but let's say there are -- that's already happened.

MR. REINISCH:  I'm not sure where the savings would come from because under the previous ownership, under Spectra Energy, the same relationship existed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except that you only have one audit committee at Enbridge Inc.  You don't have two now, do you?  You don't have one for Union and one for Enbridge.  You have one that directs all the auditors?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, potentially.  But again, to quantify those savings, Enbridge Inc. is a very large enterprise.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Understood.  All right.  But the accounting departments, like management accounting, I guess ERP is within finance, right?


MR. REINISCH:  No, the ERP is a shared services, is from the parent company level.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, so then what's in the separate companies now?


MR. REINISCH:  Again, the management -- ERP would be SAP or Oracle, so the individuals within each of the utilities would use those ERP systems in order to carry out their job functions, so embedded within each utility is a finance function that provides finance support to each utility.  So it would be management accounting.  It would be financial reporting.  It would be variance analysis.  It would be other financial support.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when Mr. Kitchen, for example, needs a bunch of spreadsheets to show -- to underlie a rate application, somebody at Union does that?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And that's going to change under Amalco, right?


MR. REINISCH:  As the finance functions are brought together into one entity with presumably one regulatory application rather than two separate applications, yes, then there are some synergies that would be identified in the utility shared services line in BOMA 16.


MR. SHEPHERD:  The things that the people who do that at Union do, and the people who do that at Enbridge do, are very similar, aren't they?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So you could have one group of people doing it, couldn't you?  Today you could do that.


MR. REINISCH:  You could structure -- again, you could structure the work, and as we pointed out, in the undertaking, JT1.5, there has been some rationalization within the finance function, at the management level.  The challenge is again, using different operating systems, supporting two very distinct and different client groups, requires people to carry out that work, so the rationalization of the frontline work has not taken place and, frankly, would be difficult to take place until you have the investments and the IT systems and the process re-engineering that is required in order to realize those savings.


MR. CULBERT:  And -- sorry, Mr. Shepherd, for jumping in -- and you still need those two separate accounting functions at each entity, because we have different accounting policies in each of the two different companies that have to be looked after, have to be performed by the separate accounting groups.  So that still exists; we still have those two separate accounting groups.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So help me understand how you have separate accounting policies.  You have common ownership and you use U.S. GAAP.  Aren't you required to have the same accounting policies?


MR. CULBERT:  As we have indicated in various pieces of evidence, we will be looking as an amalgamated entity to look at accounting policy combination, getting to one set of accounting policies going forward, but each of the entities and its rate models that are underpinned by accounting functions are different right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So -- so --


MR. CULBERT:  Sorry to cut you off, Mr. Shepherd, my apologies.  We have a certain depreciation methodology, as you are aware.  Union has a different depreciation methodology.  That's what's in rates.  Our proposal is those rates will be, going forward, escalated by a price cap, and those accounting treatments will need to be aligned as we go forward, but they are not right now.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So under your current proposal with the deferred rebasing all of your regulatory accounting will have to remain separate for ten years, right?


MR. REINISCH:  There are certain elements of it that would need to remain separate as long as we maintain separate rate zones; that is correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And your cost allocation, of course, you wouldn't be changing that, right, because you are not planning to do that until 2029?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct, and we would therefore need individuals to carry out the work to appropriately allocate costs to the rate zones.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So there is potential savings there.  You just, you are not going to get them for ten years.


MR. REINISCH:  To respond to the question, as far as from a regulatory accounting perspective, yes.  As long as we have separate rate zones and separate cost allocation methodologies, there are certain functions that would not be able to be consolidated.


With respect to the broader accounting policies, the amalgamation itself will drive harmonization of accounting policies.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to skip over gas control, because I don't understand it, and other people do.  And I'm going to go to human resources.


So you've centralized management of human resources, but your answer here says, but the two utilities do HR separately, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  The management has been consolidated, but there is HR roles at both utilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So I just heard Mr. Rietdyk say that in fact Enbridge is supplying HR to Union right now.  Isn't that true?  Isn't that what you said?


MR. RIETDYK:  So organizationally all of our human resources staff report up centrally through Enbridge Inc.  The roles reside within the different geographic areas we have as a company, because it is a people-intensive business, and that's where the people are, and that's what HR supports.


MR. KITCHEN:  And if you refer again to BOMA 16 under utility shared services, HR is one of the functions identified where the utilities still have separate HR functions within each of the utilities, and with amalgamation those would be integrated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But -- but right now the people in Chatham are reporting to Toronto, who in turn report to Calgary; is that right?


MR. REINISCH:  There's one on-site leader for the utilities group, and that individual is located in Toronto but provides leadership to both the locally-based Chatham team and the locally-based EGD team.


MR. RIETDYK:  And of course that depends on the function as well, because there's many different functions within HR, so what Mr. Warren is speaking about is a business partner function that supports the various teams at Union and at EGD.


There's compensation, there's labour relations, there is a number of different functions that report up centrally through their own structures to Enbridge Inc.


MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm going to skip over information technology, because we covered it at great length at the technical conference.


Public affairs is small, like, it's a development, right, it's a small area?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And you haven't integrated it yet, but that's pretty easy to do, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, when you use the words "that's pretty easy", I'm not sure --


[Laughter]


MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, easy for you.


MR. KITCHEN:  -- I can answer it that way, because, again, we haven't worked at integrating those.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So when the utilities are releasing press releases and things like that, saying we've made this application, did you work on it separately, or somebody is doing it for both of you?


MR. KITCHEN:  They would be coordinated.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Coordinated?


MR. KITCHEN:  It would be coordinated between the two utilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So it has to be approved in both -- if you do a press release about this application, let's say, somebody at both places has to approve it?


MR. KITCHEN:  It's the -- the creation of the news release would be coordinated between the two utilities and ultimately approved by the leadership.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And when you do -- when you are on industry councils and things like that, you are still sending two people or four or six or eight, whatever, you are still sending more than one?


MR. KITCHEN:  Generally, yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Isn't that a waste?


MR. KITCHEN:  No, I don't think it's a waste at all.  We are still two separate utilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  But surely your positions on things like industry councils are going to be aligned, aren't they?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. RIETDYK:  So again, so this goes back to the different policies and practices that the two organizations have and the nature of the different systems, and so for now we've chosen to make sure that both those histories are represented at those industry councils.  That is something that we would be looking to align on approval of amalgamation.


MR. SHEPHERD:  So this isn't on your list, but it is an important area, and it was actually part of your original plan, and that's DSM.  You each have a DSM department, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And am I right that it's somewhere in the order of 10 percent of your OM&A budget?


MR. KITCHEN:  Subject to check.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And I didn't check, but my impression is that's -- I'm in the right range?


MR. REINISCH:  That's a -- yeah, approximately, I think, $130 million between the two utilities.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Oh, so maybe even more.  And you planned to get some savings from DSM, and then you took it off the list, you said, no, we're not going to do that right now, or in this ten-year period, right?  Isn't the original stuff to your board of directors and then you took it out?


MR. REINISCH:  Sorry, Mr. Shepherd, but where -- you're suggesting that we took it off the list.  I wasn't sure -- where were you getting that from?  Is that the transcript-- I'm having trouble following where we made that...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I may have a reference for it.  Okay, yes.  If you take a look at page 46 of our materials, we were discussing that and we were looking at your presentation to the board of directors which had DSM as one of the areas of savings.  And then you said but -- you confirmed that the application doesn't include that.

So you are not currently planning to have savings there, right?  The 680 doesn't include any savings for DSM?

MR. KITCHEN:  Actually, if you look at BOMA 16, page 9, under "other functions", we talk about demand-side management as being one of those other functions that was being considered.  It is part of the $14 million per year that was identified.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So we said to you that you have an opportunity to integrate demand-side management and continue cost effective delivery of Ontario government low carbon programs.  Your current application doesn't do that, right?  It doesn't propose that?  And Mr. Culbert says, "That's correct."

Is that wrong?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CULBERT:  Mr. Shepherd, my answer -- what I believe we were discussing was we were not at this point in time looking to bring together the programs in and of themselves.

There certainly is some view as to the resources that can be utilized to perform the DSM services and, to Mr. Kitchen's point, there is some estimation of what that could look like.  But at this point, we are not looking to bring together the programs in and of themselves into one envelope, I'll say.

MR. SHEPHERD:  We don't have that number for savings in DSM in the record, do we?  It's buried in other functions, is that right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, it is within other functions, that's fair.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So can you undertake to provide us with that number?  Just give us across the ten-year period and how much it is in each yea.  Can you could that?

MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think we can, Mr. Shepherd.  If you look at the response to BOMA 16, it was a very high-level estimate.

It says the annual savings estimates from the area is approximately 14 million, based on 14 per cent of the annual combined OM&A estimate.

It's not -- we didn't build it from the ground up based on area.  It was a top-down, high-level estimate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So when you say DSM is included in it, it's -- when you reached for a number, you said, well, this should be this big because these are all the things that are in it.

MR. KITCHEN:  Sort of all the back shop, not the DSM programs themselves.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, all right.  Madam Chair, I'm actually a little behind, but I think I can catch up.

MS. ANDERSON:  I was just going to check in when a reasonable time to take a morning break.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm tired, so I'm happy to take a break.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And I have about 35 or 40 minutes left, which I think in my schedule, in my scheduled time allotment.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, back -- I'm trying to see if that --

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, sorry to interrupt.  But just before you rise, Staff might have mentioned to you, but I thought I would mention to you as well that I'm next in the order.  I'm happy to go and I'd like to go, if it can be worked out.  But I will be referring to some confidential material, which will entail going in camera.

So I'll just leave that with you and obviously take your direction on timing and so forth.

MS. ANDERSON:  And you are on for?

MR. MONDROW:  IGUA.

MS. ANDERSON:  You are on for how long?

MR. MONDROW:  Forty-five minutes.

MR. QUESNELLE:  It might be more convenient if that piece of in camera was right before the lunch break or something.  Is it at the beginning or at the end of your...?


MR. MONDROW:  It is about a third of the way through.  There are some non-confidential questions and then I am going to confidential materials.

So I am in your hands.  I'm flexible and I'm here anyway, so whenever you would like to do that.

MS. ANDERSON:  I think who is after is CCC, and they've got fairly -- about an hour or so, I think.  So that doesn't fit into the little window that we have before lunch.

MR. MONDROW:  I just wanted to leave it with you.

MR. QUESNELLE:  We'll come back at -- can we do it at 11:25?  Is that enough time?
--- Recess taken at 11:09 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:30 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm not going to go through the rest of these things on page 18 of our materials, but -- except for one, and that is regulatory.

So you have this application that you've brought jointly, I guess.  I'm not sure I understand why, given the fact that you've got one regulatory regime and you've got a whole lot of people who know what they're doing, why you haven't combined the departments already?  Is there some reason why you haven't, aside from nobody wants to lose their job?

MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I'm tempted to give you a smart answer, but I really won't.  You know, like any other function in this chart, we have -- are still operating separately.  The Union regulatory group is still managing all of the specific Union regulatory proceedings, as is EGD.  We've collaborated on this one, but we are still operating separately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is the biggest regulatory application that any of you have ever seen, right?  And it is $29 billion, so it better be.

So I'm not sure I understand why -- like, how have you structured this to manage the regulatory part of this?  Is there somebody in charge?

MR. KITCHEN:  The -- in terms of managing this proceeding, there is a team within regulatory that -- between the two companies that is managing the application itself, and then there is also a steering committee made up again of EGD and Union senior management that oversees it.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, now, you -- Enbridge, at least -- I don't know whether Union does this -- but Enbridge, at least, has done regulatory for affiliates in the past, right?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm sorry, Mr. Shepherd, could you repeat the question?  I can't quite --


MR. SHEPHERD:  Enbridge has done regulatory work for affiliates in the past, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, we are involved in various regulatory proceedings and charge those entities through the Affiliate Relationships Code and service level agreements for that work, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So for example, the Nextbridge application for East-West Tie, you are actually doing that, right?

MR. CULBERT:  I am involved in the regulatory case management of that process, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so there is no reason why you couldn't do that between Union and Enbridge too, right?  It is the same thing.

MR. KITCHEN:  Again, Mr. Shepherd, we are still operating separately.  As I said, regulatory staff at Union manage regulatory proceedings for Union and the same goes for EGD.  We are not doing any cross-charging for other applications.

MR. CULBERT:  We still have a multitude of other proceedings that each of the entities has to be engaged in, Mr. Shepherd, you'd be aware of.  We have QRAMs that happen every quarter.  We have our ESM applications that have to happen.  We have stakeholder meetings that we have to do.  We have LTCs for each company that have to be managed by the regulatory departments --


MR. KITCHEN:  Triple R reporting.

MR. CULBERT:  -- so until we are in an amalgamated state where some of those things might be happening from a consolidated perspective we still have all that volume of work to do for each of the two entities.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But they are common activities in the sense that it's the same thing for both companies, and so you should be able to get some efficiencies with the number of people that you --


MR. KITCHEN:  I disagree, Mr. Shepherd.  At this point they are all separate applications and separate functions.  And that's the way that we are operating.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You just did two DSM clearance applications that are almost word-for-word copies of each other.  There is no savings there?

MR. KITCHEN:  As I said, Mr. Shepherd, they are separate applications.  We are separate entities, and until we've amalgamated we are not looking at bringing the two functions together.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if you could take a look at page 37 of our materials.  So we -- actually, Mr. Quinn asked you, so what have you done to save some money already.  And it seems like to me like in 2017 you saved 5.2 million through combined activities; is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, I think this response to the undertaking is better addressed by panel 3, which will also have Greg Tetreault on it who could speak to the actual chart and the numbers.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I'm just asking about the principle.  You agree that you saved $5.2 million in 2017 already.

MR. KITCHEN:  What you've done is added 3.8 and 1.4.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yeah.

MR. KITCHEN:  That adds up to 5.2, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.

MR. REINISCH:  Just for clarity, though, Mr. Shepherd, those are the savings.  There were over $9 million of costs required to achieve those.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Just like you have $150 million in costs, you save 680 million, I get it.

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But that doesn't mean that the 680 million isn't still savings.  You save the 5.2 every year.  You don't save it just in one year, do you?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So that should actually be 52 million, right, compared to 9.2 million in costs, right?

MR. REINISCH:  On the ten-year deferred rebasing period, yes, that would equate.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I wonder if I could move to another area.  And you will see this on page 29 of our materials.  So we asked you to compare the achieved and allowed ROE for each of the last ten years.  That was 2018 to 2017 for each of the two companies.  And you did, and you also talked about the sharing that you've had of that over that period of time.

And I just did the math on this, and it appears to me that Enbridge Gas Distribution over-earned by -- in that ten years by a total of 351.5 million.

Will you accept that, subject to check?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm assuming you've added up the numbers in these columns?

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, no, because that includes the threshold, so you have to actually gross it up to cover the threshold as well, right?  I'm talking about comparison between achieved and allowed ROE, right, but you've got a deadband.  So you have to gross-up for the deadband.  So, for example, in 2008, right, your over-earnings over the threshold were 11.2 million, but your actual over-earnings over allowed ROE were 31.55 million.  That's just math, right?

MR. CULBERT:  And those are normalized results you are quoting there, as opposed to actual achieved versus normalized.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  But normalized just means weather-corrected, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  And so you will accept, subject to check, that Enbridge saved -- made 351.5 million?

MR. CULBERT:  Sure, I'll do the math.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And will you accept, subject to check, that Union over-earned 309.1 million, for a total between the two of 660.6 million over those ten years?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, subject to check.  We'd have to do the calculation.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So the reason I ask that -- oh, and by the way, will you accept -- and this is just adding up the column, ratepayer share, that of that 660 million the ratepayers got 180 million of it?

MR. CULBERT:  You are referring to both entities, combined?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yep.

MR. REINISCH:  I can agree that the addition of those columns, that is correct, that is the math for those columns, subject to check, but it is important to note that the cost structure savings that both utilities achieved for 2008 through 2012 would have been rebased in 2013, and those savings would have been at that point in time passed along to ratepayers, and so ratepayers would have received the benefits of those efficiencies gained in that period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in your 2014 rate case you -- or 2013 rate case you had a rate reduction?

MR. REINISCH:  No, but again, any cost structure savings that otherwise wouldn't have happened as a result of actions taken by the utilities during an IRM would have led to higher costs than otherwise would have been.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Fair enough, so your current forecast is that for the next ten years your -- your amount that you earn over allowed ROE is going to be 111 million, which is about one-sixth of what you got the last ten years, and I'm trying to understand, why would you do that?

MR. REINISCH:  A couple of things that are important to note.  If you look at the trend, especially within the Union Gas earnings sharing results, the achieved ROE, you can see a distinct trend that it has trended as we've progressed further and further through our consecutive IRMs towards regulated ROE.  2017 at 9.15 is again about -- just over 20 basis points above our allowed ROE.  So the challenge to look at it over the last ten years is that there are is some significant earnings that were achieved in 2008 through 2012 by both utilities.  But there were a lot of other drivers driving those results that again may have been on the revenue side, may have been on the cost side.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are saying that the future won't be like the past?

MR. REINISCH:  With respect to things like market opportunities and the short-term deferral accounts, the short-term earnings from transportation services and contracts, the market has changed significantly over the last decade.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are only going to get the over-earnings from the Enbridge side; you are not going to get as much from the Union, is that right?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINISCH:  So as we look at our projections over the next ten years, there aren't over-earnings from EGD or over-earnings from Union Gas.  Our projection is that we will generate earnings as an amalgamated utility, and those earnings will average 20 basis points above forecasted allowed over the ten-year period.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's -- I'm challenging your forecast obviously, right, and it appears to me -- and tell me whether this is right -- that what you're saying is we're going to over-earn one-sixth as much in the next ten years as we did in the last ten years, and in the last ten years we didn't have a merger savings to get.  This time will, but we're still only going to get one-sixth as much.

Why would the Board believe that?  That doesn't sound logical to me.

MR. REINISCH:  So a couple of points to make.  Again, when you look at prior earnings, it's important to denote whether those earnings were generated through increased revenues, which may or may not be able to be achieved in an ongoing manner with respect to the Union Gas 2008 through 2012, there were significant revenues on the transportation side that have not, frankly, appeared in the last five years.

With respect to cost structure savings, again there are cost structure savings that have been achieved in the past.  But based on the fact that both utilities are entering the second -- part way through the second decade of incentive regulation frameworks, the magnitude of potential cost savings going forward simply is not what the potential cost savings are in the future.

At the end of the day, we have prepared a plan that if we make significant investments in re-engineering and redesigning systems, we believe that we can achieve a significant cost savings of at least $680 million over the following ten years.

Again, the challenge with looking back at the last ten years is past performance is not indicative of future performance.  It's in every financial statement that I've ever read, any investor column I've ever read.

In this case, the productivity savings that we have seen in the past simply don't exist based on our projections going forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Except that in every one of these other applications that either Union or Enbridge has made, nowhere did you say, oh, by the way, we're going to over-earn 2.88 percent or 4.54 percent.  Nowhere have you ever told the Board that.

So why does the Board think that your forecasts are different now than all those other times when we know what happened?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. KITCHEN:  In response, Mr. Shepherd, the -- as Mr. Reinisch has indicated, both utilities have been in incentive mechanisms for approximately 15 years.

Union's incentive mechanism has an upfront productivity.  The one that was established in 2013, it has an upfront productivity commitment of $4 million and then has increased rates by inflation -- by 40 percent of inflation over that time period.

The Enbridge custom IR had fixed O&M over the course of its five years, and where we're jumping off from is that point, in terms of the next price cap.  So we're actually building in, in the same sort of level of commitment, that we had back when those plans were established.  And we're increasing that by inflation over the ten-year term, and as part of our assumptions, we've included the ICM.

But given all that, based on the projection of cost which is going higher than inflation, we actually need the synergy savings in order to make our allowed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So that's interesting, and we're going to talk about that in a second.  But Union had started out by giving up $4 million of annual savings right off the bat, and only escalated their rates at 40 percent of inflation.  And they still over-earned every single year.

So that tells me that there's something happening here that the Board doesn't know yet.  That was after the storage and transportation market fell apart, so you weren't getting it from that.  So how come that worked out that way?  Why didn't the Board know about it in advance?

MR. REINISCH:  Could I refer you to JT3.12 -- sorry, 3.18?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sure.

MR. REINISCH:  3.18.  So from the period of 2013 to 2017, the primary driver of Union's ability to earn Board- allowed ROE, as well as in each year exceed Board-allowed ROE was the refinancing of debt at lower interest rates, as well as a reduced pension expense through that period.

In some of the early years of the IRM, we also experienced colder than normal weather.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  I thought these were normalized.  These are normalized, right?

MR. REINISCH:  For EGD, they are normalized.  For Union, they are not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  All right.  In the last ten years, if the -- you've proposed that DSM that starts in year 6 with a 300 basis point deadband, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in the last ten years, would you agree that had that been in place, Enbridge wouldn't have shared any of their earnings, true?  Because you never were more than 300 basis points over?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you shared 110 under what you had before, but you would share zero under the current proposal, right?

MR. CULBERT:  We would share zero in terms of earning sharing.  However, again -- and I keep making the same comment -- the benefit the ratepayers are getting is the price cap versus what the status quo would be in rates immediately.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And for Union, three of the ten years you would have shared at 300 basis points, and you would have shared 40 million instead of 70 million.  Do you accept that, subject to check?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. CULBERT:  Mr. Shepherd, maybe we didn't hear you correctly.  Did you say three or two?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Three years.  2008, 2012, and 2014 you would have had to share under a 300 basis point deadband, and the total would have been 40 million.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINISCH:  So in 2008 and 2012, we would have had to share.  We were more than 300 basis points above allowed in both those years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So in 2014, you wouldn't have?

MR. REINISCH:  The allowed ROE was 8.93.  Our achieved result was 10.69, which is just under 300 basis points above allowed.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You're right. Never mind, my mistake.  And I was going to insist that you accept my numbers, subject to check.

Okay.  I want to move to another area, and that is your opening rate base, and I want to start by looking at page 50 and 51.

So I don't have the data for Union, because Union was on a price cap, but we do have the data for Enbridge, and page 50 is from BOMA 29, and it says your 2018 rate base is $6.703 billion, right?

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's the forecast of rate base for 2018, correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And page 51 is from your draft rate order, the final approved rate order, in the EB-2012-0459 case, which is the current custom IR you are under, and it shows a rate base for 2018 of 6-billion-152.6 million.  Will you accept that?

MR. CULBERT:  I'm not sure that -- you portrayed this chart as being the forecasts that were in the EB-2012-0459 proceeding?

MR. SHEPHERD:  This is from the final revised DRO.

MR. CULBERT:  I'd have to say subject to check there was a 2018 approved in the 2018 proceeding.  If that's this number I would agree, but if it's not that from that proceeding it wouldn't be the number, but subject to check.

MR. SHEPHERD:  No, this is from the 2012-0459 proceeding.

MR. CULBERT:  Right.  So what I'm getting at is the rate base was a placeholder.  There were adjustments to that placeholder relative to changes in gas and storage values, et cetera, so this number would have been at a point in time.  It's likely a different number.  I can undertake to provide that number from the 2018 Board-approved.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be useful.  Please.

MR. CULBERT:  Okay.

MR. RITCHIE:  JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING NO. J1.1:  TO PROVIDE THE FINAL FIGURES FOR 2018 RATE BASE IN THE EB-2012-0459 CASE.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And it is adjusted because -- you didn't have any capital trackers, so you wouldn't have had any additional rate base other than what was in the custom IR except for gas supply, right?

MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.  Board-approved, what our capital expenditure forecast was for the five years.  To the extent there were small implications in the working cash element of rate base because O&M was approved at a different level than the Board, so there are small implications in the working capital, but for the most part it is gas and storage value differences that would have occurred.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So this 6152 could actually be far off.

MR. CULBERT:  It's not materially different.  Again, I'll provide the number for 2018.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so the reason I ask is this:  I'm looking at this and I'm saying, well, one of the things that happens is if you don't rebase then that difference, that $550 million difference, doesn't get into rate base for another ten years.

MR. CULBERT:  Well, it gets into rate base from an actual perspective, that the reconciliation or the forecasting that we did for the stand-alone was based off of 2018 rates in the price cap, but the stand-alone calculations were premised off of whatever our forecast capital expenditures and actuals have become through the period.  That's the start point for our 2019 stand-alone scenario.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So your stand-alone scenario assumes that you get to add all this difference in rate base into rate base in 2019.

MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it assumes that whatever we have spent that has gone through scrutiny inside of our ESM applications where earnings were shared with ratepayers, et cetera, is the rate base that, in effect, has been approved and used for earnings sharing purposes and therefore should be used for rate-setting purposes going forward, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Awesome, but then your Amalco proposal doesn't add that into rate base, does it?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you lose that $550 million for ten years, right?

MR. REINISCH:  We defer adding that to cost recovery through rates for ten years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's $450 million.  Over those ten years that's $450 million, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.  It is a significant drag on earnings.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So you are claiming that you've proposed to the Board that you are going to spend all this money to amalgamate and to get all these efficiencies and you are going to -- you are going to share earnings later and all that stuff, and you are going to give up $450 million of rates, in addition to everything else that might be there, because that doesn't sound like the Enbridge I know.

MR. REINISCH:  So again, when you look at it as an overall proposal, rather than isolating a single item such as rate base for EGD, you have to take into consideration all of the pluses and minuses.

Enbridge Gas Distribution has lowered their O&M expenses through this IRM, which has helped generate excess earnings above allowed ROE.  Again, the decision to defer rebasing means that those costs are not rebased in 2019.

So in a lot of ways those costs are what are being used to offset the capital costs that aren't going to be recovered for ten years.


So again, overall it is a balanced approach that provides, again, the savings to ratepayers, again through not rebasing the capital, as opposed to rebasing everything.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there somewhere in the application a breakdown of the -- you say the ratepayers are going to get $410 million of savings, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Is there a breakdown somewhere of what that's coming from, a certain amount is coming from lower rate base and a certain amount is coming from the fact -- or, sorry, from the fact that they're not going to have to pay the higher rate base and a certain amount is coming from the lower O&M and so on.

Do you have -- is there a breakdown like that somewhere where we could get to the 410 million?

[Witness panel confers]

MR. REINISCH:  So the challenge that we're having is, is effectively the 410 is derived from comparing two different pricing structures.

One pricing structure you have a custom IR for both utilities, so therefore you have effectively all of your costs, and then that generates a revenue requirement which is converted to the implied rates that are recovered from customers.

Within the MAADs framework it is a deferred rebasing, which is a price cap, so you have a starting point for rates, and then you inflate them each year, adding any incremental capital that would be approved through the ICM mechanism, so it is very difficult to sort of give you a breakdown of that 410 into the different component parts, because again, the base for creating the $410 million is the delta between those two lines.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I understand that, but we know what 450 million of it is right now, right?  We just talked about it.  So the rest of it must be going the other way.

MR. REINISCH:  Again, without doing a full reconciliation for each year, it would be very challenging to isolate all the parts that make up the $410 million.  That is the challenge.  Again, you are starting with two different structures.  We just discussed the 450 million that would be as a result of Enbridge deferring rebasing of capital.  There is also capital that Union has invested that was discussed at the technical conference over the last ten years that Union will not be able to flow through into rates until, again, we rebase in 2029 as Amalco.

So there are those big drivers, and it is fairly -- you know, those are large drivers, but again, to try to do a reconciliation would be incredibly difficult and time-consuming.

MR. SHEPHERD:  I -- you know, I went back -- when I saw this I thought I made a mistake, because no utility in their right mind gives up rate recovery on $550 million.  That's nutty.  So I went back to check it and said, well, at least they would have had to tell their board of directors, yeah, part of this Amalco plan is we're going to have to give up rate recovery on this $550 million for ten years; but that's not in your report to their board of directors, is it?

MR. REINISCH:  Again, we looked at it as a holistic package.  The report to the board contained our base case scenario and it's presented in FRPO 1.  That case presents all of the pluses and minuses in aggregate and the impact of all of the pluses and minuses.  That --


MR. SHEPHERD:  It was a yes or no question.  It's not -- that particular fact is not reported to your board of directors and was not reported to your board of directors, was it?

MR. REINISCH:  It was not included in any of the slides.  I was not at the board of directors' presentation.  Whether or not that was verbally communicated, I do not know.  But again, that is one of the factors that when you defer rebasing you defer recovery of capital.

MR. KITCHEN:  Just -- I think just to add on to Mr. Reinisch, I believe that in the board of directors' package it did indicate that there wouldn't be a rebasing of the GTA overage.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that's right, and that's 180 million of it, right?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And so -- and I understand that, but that is still not 550 million of it.  I was actually -- when I was looking at this I was looking for the 183 and I found 550 and I thought that's a little bit of a shock.  And I still haven't heard you explain why it was a good business decision for Enbridge to give up $450 million in rate recovery.

MR. CULBERT:  Well, as Mr. Reinisch has tried to explain, we looked at this from a total perspective, and if you look at the numbers in table 3, it showed that in a stand-alone rebasing scenario, which is the top two lines for each of the entities, over a ten-year period, and you looked at our consolidation application, to the extent that we could set prices using the price cap we've projected and then drive out synergies through amalgamation -- and I know I'm harping on this -- it showed that we would be in a win-win situation for both of our customers and the shareholder.  We would be better off under that scenario, both of us, versus coming in for a rebasing in some other view.

Coming in for rebasing, to my point earlier, rates for ratepayers would be higher by a hundred and -- excuse me, $410 million, whether you believe the forecasts or not is what you're sort of alluding to.

In addition, we would be asking the ratepayers to pay for the $150 million in investments, if you were to assume you could come in under an amalgamated state, which we are not proposing, all to generate $120 million of potential savings through that scenario.

So I don't see how the ratepayer would be better off in that scenario, and the company would not be better off either in that scenario because we wouldn't get any incentive out of that at all.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, in essence, that's where I'm going with this because it's rare in these proceedings that there is a credibility issue.  But you've said Enbridge is going to get $111 million extra by doing this, and that doesn't seem right to me if you are giving up $450 million in rates just for this one thing, just for the change in rate base, of which more than $111 million of that is ROE.

I do not get that.  That doesn't seem credible to me.

MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Shepherd, the decision to proceed with the amalgamation under a MAADs framework was really made in recognition of the potential savings that were out there, and the potential benefits.  And we recognized that by moving forward with MAADs, we would be in a position to bring forward savings for ratepayers and be able to invest in the synergy -- in the synergy savings and get a return for the shareholder.

It is as simple as Mr. Culbert said.  The best option for both the shareholder and the ratepayer is to move forward with a MAADs framework over the next ten years.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So interesting you say that, because of course your stand-alone -- you are comparing stand-alone and Amalco.  The stand-alone has no savings from the acquisition of Union, but clearly you've already admitted there is going to be some.

MS. THOMPSON:  There will be some minor savings, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, we don't know; you haven't done the math.

MR. KITCHEN:  I think we've said enough here this morning to indicate that the savings would be fairly minor.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, 5.2 million -- 52 million that we know of so far, right, just from what you've already done, and you've got a whole lot more to do.

So that -- all right, I'm going to leave that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Shepherd, you are circling around your two hour mark here, so...

MR. SHEPHERD:  I have one more area to go.  I've cut out all that, and I have one more area to go.

Can I just ask one question about that?  Is there any part of that $6.7 billion of rate base that is indirectly going to be included under your current Amalco proposal?

So we know about Sudbury, for example, which is in that 6.7 billion?

MR. REINISCH:  Sudbury is in that Union Gas rate base.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay, you're right.  So is there anything that is in that 6.7 billion that you are proposing will indirectly be recovered from ratepayers under your current Amalco proposal?

MR. REINISCH:  No, none of that would be included in the rate-setting mechanism.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  So my last area is -- I'm going to have to cut out governance, too, and that was so much fun.

My last area is ICM, and you will agree that -- and we've talked about this at the technical conference, that the ICM recoveries that you are currently forecasting over the ten years are $1.2 billion from ratepayers, right?

If you want the reference, page 60 of our materials is the spreadsheet that we talked about at some length and we went back and forth on, and got it so we agreed.

You'll see the total capitals -- sorry, the total ICM revenue line is 1.2 billion?

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And in addition at the end of that ten years, there would be -- somewhere around $2 billion of that ICM capital would still be in rate base to be recovered later, right?  And that's just the total ICM capital minus the depreciation for the period.

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, there would be roughly 5 and a half billion dollars of ICM capital in our plan, and that would be depreciated again -- entering service in '19, would be depreciated for ten years, and the ICM entering service in 2028 would only be depreciated for one year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, you have five and a half billion of ICM capital?

MR. REINISCH:  Sorry, two and a half billion.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you have $410 appreciation, so 2.1 billion left over?

MR. REINISCH:  Approximately, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  That's a lot of money for the ratepayers.  You developed this plan and these forecasts before the electric decision, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you'd agree that your ICM eligible capital may have to change as a result of that decision.  Is that fair to say?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct, it may have to change.  We would have to follow the new information that the Board has provided as part of the decision.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Have you done a forecast of what your ICM eligible capital will be under that type of approach?

MR. REINISCH:  No, we have not.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Can you?

MR. REINISCH:  So the expectation is that a significant portion, if not all of the capital that we've identified in the current plan as ICM eligible would continue to be ICM eligible.

We've not undertaken to go through each and every project to determine whether or not it qualifies.  That would be a fairly significant amount of work to do so.

But again, in developing the plan, there are a number of significant projects in the following ten years that we have identified as potentially ICM eligible and we've modelled them as such.

MR. SHEPHERD:  In fact, this forecast is just that, it is a fairly high-level forecast, right?  It's not -- you don't have a combined distribution system plan that says over the next ten years, this is what we're going to spend money on, these projects, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Actually, we do.  We have the asset management plans of both utilities.  Those contain the underpinning capital spend that makes up our capital program for the next ten years.  And from that, we've derived the ICM calculation on eligible capital, and then made projections and assumptions regarding the eligibility of individual projects within the plan.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You just went to the list each year and said eligible, eligible, not eligible, eligible, and then sort of added them up and said, okay, this is what we can spend that's eligible this year?

MR. REINISCH:  We didn't go on a line by line item.  We did not go line by line and identify specific projects.  There is a significant amount of base spend in both utilities.  This base spend is to attach 50,000 customers to maintain safe and reliable operations.

So those are generally programs or small projects that, in our expectation, wouldn't qualify for ICM treatment based on the Board's guidance and policy.

There are a number of very large projects throughout that ten-year period, and those are the projects that we feel would qualify or have a high likelihood of qualifying for ICM treatment and are being modeled as such.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Now, your ICM projects, there is a breakdown of them on page 38 of our materials, which you've been kind enough to provide.  And it shows that you have growth and attachment projects that would qualify for ICM, totalling about half a billion dollars or about 22 percent of the total, right?

MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Then you have maintenance projects that are 78 percent of the total, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So where are reinforcements in this, by the way?  We talked about this in the technical conference and I didn't ever get a -- I forgot about it and didn't get the right answer, so...

MR. REINISCH:  So the growth projects, the attachment projects, those would consist of reinforcement projects, projects likes the Kingsville application that is currently before the Board, and the future projects, like the Owen Sound, which will be required to reinforce a portion of our system up towards Owen Sound, as well as the Stratford reinforcement.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So none of this is attaching new customers.  This is all about upgrading your larger pipe to serve new customer growth?

MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.  The challenge that our system is currently facing is that a lot of our areas are reaching full capacity.  So we aren't able to accommodate new customers.  If existing customers want to increase their load, they want to expand their operations, there simply is not going to be enough capacity, so that's why large-scale reinforcements are required in order to provide an opportunity for new customers, and really, to be honest, to meet our customer forecast additions.

We are forecasting adding approximately 20,000 customers.  In order to add those 20,000 customers, a number of these projects are required.  Without those projects there simply wouldn't be the capacity on the higher pressure pipelines to get to those areas of our franchise.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you've been doing -- both Union and Enbridge have been doing reinforcements like this for years, right?  It is sort of a common, every year you have some you have to do, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Currently Union Gas does a number of small reinforcements of the $500,000 range, a million dollars here, a million dollars there.  That is what is in rates.  That what is our 2013 rate bases would be based off of.  These are significant investments.  These are not simply adding a small piece of pipe to add a few customers into a hamlet in rural Ontario.  These are significant investments to the backbone transmission system throughout our franchise area.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sudbury, for example, which is 70 million, right?

MR. REINISCH:  Sudbury is not a reinforcement project.  Sudbury is a maintenance project that is a significant risk-based project that is required as a result of end of life.  It needs to be replaced in order to continue to maintain service into the Sudbury market.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, that is another area in which -- so all these $1.9 billion of maintenance projects, this is something you do every year, right?  You are replacing pipe all the time, high pressure, low pressure, big, small, you have to do it all the time, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  So I'll speak to that.  So we have ongoing integrity and maintenance projects and programs, and something like Sudbury was a good example of that, where for years we maintained that pipeline.  It got to the point where it required replacement, so while we have a certain amount of spend in the base budget for ongoing integrity maintenance, it is unusual that we have to go in on something like Sudbury and actually replace that much pipe in any one given year at $74 million.  So in that particular case, that greatly exceeded what our normal maintenance spend would be and why we believe it's ICM-eligible.  And Mr. Reinisch has also described some of the transmission system reinforcement.

We've been quite fortunate that over the years we've been able to manage with the transmission system that we have.  It is quite a mature system, and we do have parts of it, like the system leading up to Stratford and Goderich, the Owen Sound line system, Parry Sound, there are a number of smaller pieces of this that would be required to have reinforcement applied to them in order to continue to bring on our residential, commercial, industrial growth in those areas.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So before we leave Sudbury, so Sudbury is actually in service this year, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  Projected to be in service November 1st of this year.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But in fact it has to be, right, because of the winter heating system, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  The existing pipeline is in place right now, so wee are replacing the existing pipeline.

MR. SHEPHERD:  So November 1st.

MR. RIETDYK:  That's our projection, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But -- so you are not under ICM now, so it doesn't qualify as an ICM project, but you are under a capital tracker as long as the revenue impact is $5 million in total, but it isn't.  So this doesn't qualify, does it, in either way?

MR. KITCHEN:  Our view is somewhat different than yours, Mr. Shepherd.  Our view is that it actually qualifies for both.  The reason that it doesn't get caught in '18 is there was only two months of revenue requirement, but within '19 there is a full year's revenue requirement that would make it eligible, under the current capital pass-through mechanism, and also we believe makes it eligible under the ICM, which is why we're going to bring it forward.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But it's not in service in 2019, and so it's not eligible for ICM, is it?

MR. KITCHEN:  Our view is that it does go into service in 2018.  There is only two months of revenue requirement.  We will be applying to put the full revenue requirement into rates in 2019 under the ICM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Shouldn't this be one of the things that you don't get in your opening rate base because it doesn't qualify?  Why is this 70 million different from the 550 million for Enbridge?

MR. KITCHEN:  It is different from our perspective because it would have been caught in the capital pass-through mechanism as part of -- in terms of the overall revenue requirement in '19 if we were continuing it in '19.

MR. SHEPHERD:  But you are not continuing.  You don't have a capital pass-through for 2019.

MR. KITCHEN:  We would be relying on the ICM.

MR. SHEPHERD:  You don't have an ICM for 2018.  I don't understand.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, we seem to be embarking on argument.  The project under discussion now and generally projects that may or -- may come forward in future ICM applications, the Board will determine eligibility at that time.  I don't see that it's productive for Mr. Shepherd to engage in an argument with the witnesses now about what will or will not be eligible under applications that will be brought forward at a future time.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, where I was going with this is -- the final question in the series is, if you rebased you would include this in rate base; true?

MR. KITCHEN:  If we were rebasing it would have been caught in rate base, yes.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And if it is not eligible for ICM or capital tracker, then otherwise you would lose the revenue on that 70 million for ten years.

MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.

MR. SHEPHERD:  And you are not asking this Board to decide that this year, right --


MR. KITCHEN:  That will be the subject of the '19 rate application.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Okay.  Thank you, those are my questions.
Questions by the Board:


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, before we move on to Mr. Mondrow, I did have a question.  I will check with my other Panel members too, just on the ICM.  In particular, I was looking for, within the ICM policy there is a means test and there is also a project-specific materiality threshold, and I didn't locate that in the application or referenced in the technical conference, and so did it come out through IRs?  Is there something you could point to me about the ICM means test and project-specific materiality?

MR. REINISCH:  To be honest, the means test that was discussed in interrogatory response to Board Staff -- to Board Staff 28, I believe, really referred to the overall means test, not the project-specific means test.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, OEB, what was it?

MR. REINISCH:  Staff 28.

MS. ANDERSON:  Staff 28?  Thank you.

MR. REINISCH:  There was a discussion --


MS. ANDERSON:  That was about the overall means test but not about the project-specific materiality?

MR. REINISCH:  Correct, the closest project-specific would have been VECC 30, I believe.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. REINISCH:  Unfortunately, the question wasn't worded with respect to individual project materiality threshold, but this is, I guess, as close as we got.  This obviously was filed before the Board rendered the decision in the electric case, so with respect -- to provide clarity, it is Amalco's understanding that for the purposes of understanding or determining individual project materiality, the Board will examine the capital budget of the entire Amalco and not each of the individual distributors, so the individual project materiality would be based off of the 830, $850 million ICM threshold that Amalco would have.

MS. ANDERSON:  So you don't have a proposal for the project-specific materiality in your application?  I just want to -- okay.

MR. REINISCH:  No, we do not.

MS. ANDERSON:  I just wanted to clarify that.  Thank you.

My other question was -- and I don't know if there is going to be more queries about the asset management plans, but I believe all the references I've seen refer to asset management plans rather than a utility system plan or something that is a bit broader.

So your intent is to file an asset management plan, which is usually a subset of a broader system plan?  Or is it a system plan?

MR. KITCHEN:  In this application we were asked to provide the asset management plans, which we did.  Our intent is, as part of the 2019 rate application, to file a utility system plan, of which an asset management plan will be a part.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Do you have a question?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Sorry, Madam Chair, can I follow-up on That?  I know my time's up, but...
Further Cross-Examination by Mr. Shepherd:


That's not a combined plan, right?  That's two separate plans in 2019.  It is two to six years before you do a complained plan, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  So our intent is to file a single asset management plan as quickly as possible.  For the first year, we won't have time to bring them together.  We can bring together most aspects of the asset management plan in the second year, but there are still some pieces of it, particularly around some of the systems and processes that are used to determine risk and to optimize the overall portfolio, that will still be unique to each one of the legacy utilities, and it is going to take a little bit longer to bring those together.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Mr. Mondrow, I believe you are next.  
Our intention is to get to the point of your in camera, try and complete that in camera, you said about a third of the way in, and then take a break for lunch, if that works.  That allows us to have people leave the room.  So we'll see, depending on the timing of where you are with that, so it might be a little bit of an earlier lunch break depending where you are.

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, Madam Chair, you wanted to break prior to the in camera session?

MS. ANDERSON:  No, we'd like to get the in camera done so that people can leave and have their lunch, if possible.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  Okay, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  We'll see where we are.

MR. MONDROW:  I will do my best.  Thank you.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:


Good morning, gentlemen -- good afternoon, gentlemen.

Everything that I've read in this application indicates to me a fair degree of uncertainty remains regarding the specific way you are going to get the efficiencies.  You've identified the areas and some of the potential, but the specifics, I think you've said several dozen times, probably have yet to be worked out.

The specific amount of efficiency to be realized,  you've got ranges in the evidence, but are very careful to indicate those are ranges and the specific timing for achieving those efficiencies.  Is that a fair read of the evidence?

MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I believe it is.  We have done a high-level plan in order to establish the range, and then we've done more of a, sort of -- I guess we'd call it a bit more specific forecast to arrive at the $680 million of savings.

But yes, there is still detailed planning to be done. There still has to do planning around timing of implementation of systems.  That all has to be done, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And the 680 million, you are not committed to that number.  That's your best guess, but there is a range around that guess as well.

MR. KITCHEN:  That is our best guess at this point, yes.

MR. MONDROW:  And there is a range around it, a reasonable range.

MR. KITCHEN:  It is within the range of what we've said, yes.  But it is within a range.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  I'd like to take you to -- and, Madam Chair, I don't have a compendium.  I only have actually three references, one of them being a confidential document, and I've given those references so that we can pull this up on the screen.

So the first of the three documents is -- and you've mentioned this a couple of times already -- it is Exhibit C, BOMA 16.  So it is interrogatory response to BOMA 16 and it's at attachment 1, where you've gone into some detail around the efficiency initiatives and expectations.

I want to start at page 19 of that attachment.  And you will see on page 19, under the heading "Integration opportunities", there are two -- I believe these are called Gantt charts, if I'm not mistaken.  They are project timeline charts.

And the text underneath the table indicates that these two charts are intended to represent a range of implementation timelines for your efficiency initiatives.

The chart on the left is titled "moderate/aggressive."


Sorry, I got that backwards -- no, that's right.  The chart on the left is titled "Moderate/aggressive", and the chart on the right is titled "low moderate".

So I gather that the left-hand chart indicates a timeline that is on the aggressive side of moderate, and the right-hand chart indicates a timeline that is on the low side of moderate.

Is that how I am supposed to read this?

MR. RIETDYK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  And the dark squares on the chart indicate actual integration initiatives, and the light squares refer, I think, to a stabilization period during which the outcome of that integration is worked through and put into place and stabilized, and then you are up and running after the stabilization period.  Is that fair?

MR. RIETDYK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And the difference in the timelines is that under the aggressive timeline, you chunk all of the efficiency initiative together and stabilize after; and on the low end of the range, you have the stabilization periods for some of these mixed in between the steps in the efficiency initiatives, is that right?

MR. RIETDYK:  So the way I would describe it as in the moderate to aggressive timeframe, we're initiating a lot of the system and the process changes coincidentally, essentially stacking them on top of one another.

In the low to moderate scenario, they are spaced out a little bit more.  There could be some coincidental work that is going on, but just recognize that to stack them all together like that would be very aggressive and something that neither utility has done before.

MR. MONDROW:  But you haven't decided in respect of each particular efficiency area, nor in respect of the particular sub projects in that area, which path you are going to take yet.  Those decision have yet to be taken, am I correct?

MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So on the aggressive side of moderate, if I'm reading this right, the integration work will take five years.  It will run through to the end of 2023.  And on the low side of moderate, the integration work would be completed after seven years at the end of 2025; is that right?

MR. RIETDYK:  Well, I would include the stabilization period in there, so just a little bit longer, 24 to 25 --


MR. MONDROW:  I'm going to come to stabilization.  But if we could just stick with all of the integration work -- we will talk about stabilization, but all of the integration work under the low/moderate side will be done by 2025.  That is the last dark square yellow square in your Gantt chart.

MR. RIETDYK:  Those would represent the primary execution activities, recognizing that there would still be some work to do, following full implementation.

MR. MONDROW:  If we add stabilization, then the aggressive timeline is seven years and the low moderate timeline is eight years.  2025 and 2026 at the end of each of those years respectively.

MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.

MR. MONDROW:  So the range -- that's fine, let's leave it at that.

But I think you agreed, Mr. Reitdyk, that the integration pieces themselves -- and I take your point about stabilization, but the integration pieces on the aggressive/moderate timeline would be completed by the end of 2023 largely, and that's five years.

That's the low side of the time range, right, for the integration steps?

MR. RIETDYK:  I can only speak to my experience with these type of system implementations and...

MR. MONDROW:  Sorry, I'm just asking to you read the chart.  The chart says the low side of the integration steps would be completed at the end 2023.

MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  Mr. Rietdyk is doing his best to answer the question.  If all Mr. Mondrow wants is someone to read the chart, he doesn't need to ask these questions in cross-examination.  We can all read the chart and he can argue from it.

If there's answers to be given, Mr. Rietdyk Should be able to answer the way he sees fit.

MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I think the protocol is to get an answer to the question, and then the witness can elaborate however he or she chooses, and that's what I'm asking Mr. Rietdyk to do.

MR. RIETDYK:  I would say your question doesn't represent an accurate picture of the full implementation of these systems.  So I will try to explain.

My experience with these system implementations is you go through the planning, testing, implementation phases, and that's what would be represented in the darker colours, the yellow colours.  And then the stabilization period includes some period of time after the go live of that, in which case you continue to fine-tune your systems, processes, fix some of those errors that might have been either coded in or some process changes that still need to be addressed, perhaps some training that needs to occur to realize the full benefits of those implementations.

So the stabilization period is a critical piece of the implementation of the systems and processes.

MR. MONDROW:  All right.  So if we focus then on all of the squares, both the dark and the light -- you differentiated the colours for some reason in the chart, but now you're telling me I really shouldn't read any difference there.

So if we were look at all the squares as if they were the same colour, then the range is seven years for the aggressive timeline, and eight years for the moderate timeline.  That's how I should read these charts, right?

MR. RIETDYK:  So again, I think you are going to get a lot of the savings and the efficiencies when you go live with implementation.  But just the nature of the change itself means that you are not going to realize the full savings until such time as you work through that stabilization period of time.

So there's additional savings that are achieved through that stabilization period as you continue to fine-tune your systems and processes.

MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So you've helped me understand the chart.  I appreciate that.  I am glad I actually asked you the questions the way I did.

If we could go back to page 4 of this attachment -- do I have that right?  Oh, my mistake.  I'm going the other way.  I think we have to go to -- I'm sorry, I have to go to page 20 of the attachment.  My mistake.


So this is where we have a discussion which justifies the choice, and you refer to this as selecting the ten-year deferral period.


If you look at the last paragraph on that page, what your text told us, before the explanation you've just given us, Mr. Riddick (sic), is  -- I'm not pronouncing that right, am I?


MR. RIETDYK:  It is Rietdyk.


MR. MONDROW:  Rietdyk, sorry.  The time page -- so I'm starting in the third line at the last couple words:

"The time range extends from six years under the accelerated project timeline to eight-plus years under the more staggered execution project timeline.  These are two potential timelines, and given the number and size of integration initiatives being undertaken over the ten-year period, management sees the ten-year deferral of rebasing as a key incentive to achieve the full potential of integration activities in a balanced manner that delivers quality within a reasonably based timeline."

So here we see the rationale for quote-unquote selecting the ten-year rebasing deferral tied back to the discussion you and I just had about timing for these projects and their stabilization.


MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  That was the basis for choosing the ten years or accepting the ten years; right?


MR. RIETDYK:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Madam Chair, I'm going to go in camera with Exhibit JT1.2, the attachment to that which is confidential, with your permission.


MS. ANDERSON:  Do you have an estimate of time for the in camera before you are back?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I would say it's going to be ten to 15 minutes.


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, so just for any parties that have not signed the declaration, they will have to leave while we go in camera, and also any who are -- the list of competitors or potential competitors that were in the P.O. -- I think you know who you are.  So we will ask you to leave as we go into in camera.  And then we're going to take an hour lunch break after that, so.


I'm just conferring with legal...  I think we're covered.


MR. RITCHIE:  Madam Chair, pardon me.  I don't recognize the gentleman in the very back row, so I don't know if he signed it or not.


MR. WADSWORTH: Yes, I'm Barry Wadsworth, counsel for UNIFOR and I signed the declaration.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  We will go off air now.

[Page 104, line 28 to page 115, line 15 redacted.]

[Page 104, line 28 to page 115, line 15 redacted.]
--- On resuming in public at 12:49 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, going back on air, and we will now take our lunch break.  I believe we're coming back to you after the lunch; is that correct?


MR. MONDROW:  If we could, thank you.


MS. ANDERSON:  We will.  So come back at ten to -- ten to 2:00.  Thank you.

--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:50 p.m.
--- Upon resuming at 1:55 p.m.
Prelliminary Matters:


MS. ANDERSON:  Good afternoon.  We're back at the oral hearing.


There's a couple of preliminary matters that we wanted to address before we turn it back to Mr. Mondrow.


The first one is I see that Mr. Warren isn't here at the moment.  He had raised a question this morning and just on the matter, I think, hopefully parties have that letter that, the Chatham-Kent letter.  It was filed as part of the initial positions of parties, so I assume that -- it is certainly on the record, and I assume it has gone out.


Nevertheless, we would find it actually helpful to know if any other parties plan to cross-examine on that letter.  We believe that Mr. Warren does, but if anyone else is planning to cross-examine on it, it would be helpful if you could advise us after the afternoon break.


MR. SHEPHERD:  What panel would we be cross-examining on that?


MS. ANDERSON:  Our assumption -- Mr. Warren is not here, but our assumption is that he wanted to cross-examine the witnesses about the conditions that they were looking for, the conditions of approval.


MR. SHEPHERD:  That would be panel 1?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I think it would be panel 1, Madam Chair.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, sorry, just with respect to Chatham-Kent, yes.  So yes, it would be very helpful to know if anyone else intends to cross-examine on that -- those conditions.  And yes, Mr. Ritchie?


MR. RITCHIE:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Just a very minor housekeeping matter.


This morning, an undertaking was provided to Mr. Shepherd and when I give it an undertaking number, I realize I misspoke.


I called it JT1.1, when of course I should have said J1.1.  JT is what we use for undertakings given in a technical conference, so I don't want there to be any confusion.


So just again to clarify, only one undertaking was given this morning.  It should have been J1.1.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Mondrow?


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you, Madam Chair. And again, good afternoon, gentlemen.

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

Before the lunch break, we were talking about possible timelines for integration and stabilization of your various efficiency initiatives.  And I'm assuming that after you get the Board's decision, and assuming that you go ahead with a merger, you will do more planning and particularize your integration initiatives.  Is that an accurate assumption?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  Once we have Board approval and we plan to proceed, then we will do detailed planning.


MR. MONDROW:  And with that detailed planning, you will get a much better sense of the actual timelines, and indeed the actual costs and the actual benefits that you expect?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  I think one of you mentioned earlier today that efficiencies don't all come at once.  They will actually start to flow over time as you proceed with your initiatives.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Some of those efficiencies could flow as early as -- could be realized as early as 2019?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  And I gather that those efficiencies -- or more accurately, the cost savings resulting from those efficiencies will be used notionally to cover the costs of the investment that gave rise to the efficiency.  And then, to the extent there is savings left over, those savings will be reinvested into further efficiencies.  That's the plan for the deferred rebasing period?


MR. KITCHEN:  I am just pausing to make sure I understand your question.


To the extent that we have savings that we achieve in, let's say '19, you are saying those would -- because initially it would go to offsetting costs associated with those savings, and they would be used to help fund other initiatives over the term.  Have I got that right?


MR. MONDROW:  Yes.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Mondrow, I think that -- I'm not sure I can agree with the premise of the question, because I don't think we'll be tracking this separate pool of costs and benefits as we go through the deferred rebasing period.


What we will be doing is taking on these initiatives.  There will be synergies that arise from them, but I'm not sure it will be isolated to -- sort of kept within this pool of initiatives and around -- around the amalgamation.


MR. MONDROW:  That's a fair answer, and I understand that.  But the premise of deferring rebasing is to allow the utility to earn back, through efficiency gains, the funds invested to realize those gains?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  To the extent that there are savings associated with those investments, they would be part of, for example, the $680 million that we've put forward.


MR. MONDROW:  And I want to take you to one more reference from the record, and this is your response to APPrO interrogatory number 3.  And part D of the interrogatory, so the question asked, under a ten-year deferred rebasing period -- sorry, under the proposed ten-year deferral, when would ratepayers see the direct benefits from the O&M savings associated with the above noted efficiency investments in reduced rates.


And your response was: "Under the ten-year deferred rebasing period, ratepayers could see benefits from O&M savings from year 6 to year 10 of the term under the earnings sharing mechanism proposed."

But I take it from the use of the word could that you are not forecasting that ratepayers will see such benefits.  But under earnings sharing, if there were benefits, they'd be shared.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Do you have an anticipation as to whether there will be such benefits or not?  Do you have a forecast, or some sort of prognostication about that?


MR. REINISCH:  In response to FRPO 1, we outlined the expected savings, as well as the range of ROEs that the Amalco would have throughout the ten-year deferred rebasing period.


We are currently projecting an ROE above allowed of approximately 20 per cent on average throughout the ten-year period.  So again, the projection is that we would not be earnings sharing in any individual year.


MR. MONDROW:  Right.  If the Board approved your proposals, both the merger proposal and the rate plan proposal as filed, with the exception that you have to share earnings from and after year 6 on a 50-50 basis with ratepayers without a deadband, would you proceed with the merger?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  As I said, Mr. Mondrow, earlier, we of course would have to review the decision in its entirety.  But if one of the features of that decision was earnings sharing dollar one in years 6 to 10, I think that would be very difficult for us to manage in terms of achieving the savings that would be necessary to repay, I guess, the investment.  And I think it would actually be opposite to what the Board has intended with the earnings sharing mechanism as part of MAADs, which, as we said in Staff 37, shouldn't also provide a disincentive to utilities to investing in synergy savings.


MR. MONDROW:  Is there a point in time between year 6 and year 10 that if the Board were to choose that point in time and direct that earnings sharing following that point in time would have to be 50-50 with no deadband, is there a point in time at which a decision would be acceptable to you?


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure, Mr. Mondrow.  We haven't done any sort of analysis as to that.  I can tell you, though, that any earnings sharing mechanism off of dollar one could be very difficult.


A lot of it depends on the timing of the investments in the first place, so we've talked already about the aggressive/moderate and moderate/aggressive and the stabilization period and such.  When those savings actually start to accrue will depend a lot on our detailed planning, and for me to, at this point, try to speculate at what -- what point in time that might be acceptable is just not possible.


MR. MONDROW:  And the ten-year period of deferral wasn't based on any forecast or speculation about an appropriate payback period, was it?  It was just the maximum that you thought you could get?


MR. KITCHEN:  Again, our ten-year deferral period was really based on the fact that we have a very large number of complex systems that need to be changed over time and processes that will also need to be changed, and so we believe that we need the full ten years in order to actually implement the system changes, change the processes, and then get the benefit, because we're talking, if you think about a CIS system -- and Mr. Charleson can add to this -- but you're talking probably three to -- three years to actually have a system in place that you can build.


MR. MONDROW:  But you must be confident that after ten years you will have recovered your investment and made it worth your while?


MR. KITCHEN:  We believe that in ten years we can do that, yes.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  And so you must have prepared some sort of a forecast to come to that conclusion.


MR. KITCHEN:  Just one moment.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. REINISCH:  Could I please bring up FRPO -- sorry, Exhibit C, FRPO 1, attachment 1, page 23 of 35.


On the chart on the left, it shows the financial forecast, financial projection, of the MAADs scenario.  So this has escalated a price cap plus the incremental capital module.


As you can see, the utility earnings before synergies are on the third row from the top, ranging from 442 through to 563 dollars.  The synergies are contained in the middle section of the table, and as you can see, that the synergies are driving the $680 million of pre-tax benefit.  When you go down to the bottom you will see the achieved ROE, as well as the allowed ROE.


As you can see from the achieved ROE, each and every year we are anywhere from flat to allowed ROE to 30 basis points above.  The average is 20.  So our financial projections have us assuming no earnings sharing until year 6, and then 300 basis points sharing after year 6 through 10, again show us earning 20 basis points above allowed.


MR. MONDROW:  Is the assumption that you will have made all of your efficiency garnering investments prior to the implementation of earnings sharing, as you've proposed it?  So the investment period will be finished and then you'll be recovering the costs in the balance of the period?


MR. REINISCH:  The vast majority of the efficiency investments are taking place in years 1 through 5.  There may be some residual investments in the early part of the year.


MR. MONDROW:  And when you calculate these returns in years 6 to 10 in this forecast, I assume that your calculation includes the return of and on those investments?


MR. REINISCH:  Yes, it does.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  So what you are saying through this forecast and the balance of your application is that in years 6 through 10 you need to earn -- your shareholder needs to earn not only the Board-approved return on those investments but the additional 20 basis points on average, right?


MR. REINISCH:  So again, each investment, so each integration investment, will be examined on its own merits, as well as the portfolio of investments that we're putting forward, so each investment will require to earn its risk-weighted return on investment.


The utility, by the shareholder taking accountability for the investment, is going to be seeking, for those specific investments, greater than a regulated rate of return because, again, the shareholder is entirely at risk during this deferred rebasing period.


MR. MONDROW:  Mm-hmm.


MR. REINISCH:  The enterprise, so the entire Amalco, is forecasted to earn the 20 basis points above allowed ROE.


MR. MONDROW:  So the fee for that, as it were, the quid pro quo, in addition to return of it on that investment, the shareholder is anticipating earning an additional 28 basis points in years 6 to 10?


MR. REINISCH:  Yes, through the deferred rebasing period on average, 20 basis points.


MR. MONDROW:  And it is an additional 20 basis points on the entire rate base of the utility, of the amalgamated utility, not just those investments.


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Mondrow, you are getting close to the end of your time.


MR. MONDROW:  Yes, I am.  Thank you, Madam Chair, and I am getting close to the end of my questions, so it's going to work out.


MS. ANDERSON:  Good.


MR. MONDROW:  Thank you.


I have one more question, and I just want to clarify with you, Mr. Reinisch, because I was, as I try to do, listening very carefully to your answers to Mr. Shepherd, and I think it was one of the last questions he asked you.  He was talking about this -- your 2019 going in rate base.  You recall that discussion?  And the numbers I didn't write down fast enough, so I'll they'll escape me, but you said in respect of -- it was 500-odd million dollars -- none of that would be included in the rate-setting mechanism.  And I just want to make sure that I'm understanding you to say none of that will be included in rates.


MR. REINISCH:  Yeah, that's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Am I correct about that?


MR. REINISCH:  That's correct.


MR. MONDROW:  Okay.  Great.  Madam Chair, thank you very much.  Thank you, gentlemen.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.


Next, Consumers Council.

Cross-Examination by Ms. Girvan:

MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, panel.  So I have a compendium, and it's -- I can't remember what -- it's K1.5.


Now, if you could just turn to page 1, please, in this compendium.  Thank you.  So we'd asked you about the primary objectives of the merger.  And the answer here is:

"To deliver benefits and value to both customers and Amalco while continuing to provide safe and reliable service."

So just help me with this:  Do you think it's appropriate and important to strike a balance between delivering the benefits to the customers and your shareholders?  Do you think that's an important principle, to strike that balance?


MR. KITCHEN:  It's our view that actually taking the approach that we're taking with MAADs and the rate-setting mechanism, taking on the investments in order to get the returns, ultimately, that will go to ratepayers, is striking the balance.  It's why we're actually going down the MAADs framework.


MS. GIRVAN:  So your plan, in your view, strikes that balance?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And would you agree that one of the basic tenets of incentive regulation is to allow for the customers to benefit upon rebasing, from efficiencies achieved during the planned term?


MR. KITCHEN:  I believe you actually asked that question in interrogatory at CCC 5 -- 4.  Try CCC 5, actually.


MS. GIRVAN:  It's a little bit of a different question, but I'm --


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, I thought -- to me it sounded very similar to the question asked at CCC 5.  And I think that we've given the answer there.  We have optimized our work forces over time.  We have taken on productivity initiatives.  We've managed costs within the price cap, and EGD has managed their costs within their custom IR.


So to the extent that there are benefits to ratepayers, yes, there are benefits to ratepayers.  For Union, a number of those benefits have been delivered throughout the term of our IRM by virtue of the fact that there's a 40 percent inflation factor.


So I guess I could agree with the basic tenet.  But that doesn't necessarily mean, though, that on rebasing after an IRM, that rates will necessarily go down.


MS. GIRVAN:  Didn't you promise both Union and Enbridge that at the end of the planned term, the customers would benefit from sustained efficiencies that arose out of the plan?  Isn't that part of your evidence in the last two proceedings?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  I guess, without looking back through the -- through prior settlements and what have you, I think what we would agree on is that we have -- through the IRM and through EGD's custom IR, we have provided benefits to ratepayers in the form of lower rate increases over the term.


I don't think, though, that I can agree that just because you're in an IRM, your rates will necessarily go down at the end of that IRM.


We've also added capital through that period and there's been other cost pressures, and other things that have changed.  And those things are taken into account.


But the fact very fact, at least from Union's perspective, there was upfront productivity offset of $4 million and the fact that we had a 40 percent of inflation increase, ratepayers received an ongoing benefit throughout the IRM.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I think we can leave this to argument.  But thank you.


So if you could turn to page 3 of the compendium,  I have a few questions regarding base rate adjustments.  So I just want to be clear what you are proposing here.


The first is the deferred tax drawdown.  And from what I understand, this is to recognize that the credit is now fully amortized related to that drawdown; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  And then the second base rate adjustment is related to your CIS and customer care costs, and that is a $4.9 million adjustment.


MR. CULBERT:  That's a decrease to rates, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, that's right.  You can see it on page 5 of my compendium.  And that's to recognize that the customer care cost level is actually 126.2 million versus 131?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it's to remove the smoothing mechanisms that were put in place for what could have been one-time adjustments going into rates.  But there were smoothing mechanisms that were put in place and those have now been completed.  So it is in effect taking a one-time cost and removing it as it has reached completion, to your point.


MS. GIRVAN:  How did you come to the fact that just these two adjustments would be the adjustments made to base rates?


MR. CULBERT:  Again, these were smoothing mechanisms that could have been put into rates on a one-time basis.  They were not.  They were smoothed into rates over a different period of time for each of Union for its deferred tax.  That was over a 20-year period, if I'm correct.  The SCR tax deduction element that we're proposing needs to adjusted back into rates.  It has its completion through EGD's five-year CIR model, and the rate smoothing mechanism was a  -- I think it was a six-year smoothing mechanism for CIS, from my understanding.


Those are the only smoothing mechanisms that are in existence.  Any other adjustments that would be considered from our perspective would be a cost of service rebasing, which is not what we are proposing.  There are variances that have occurred in various levels of cost, to Mr. Shepherd's questioning earlier.  We have rate base amounts that are not going into rates.


We have O&M variances that have occurred.  We are not asking to do a cost of service rebasing.  It is only for items that have reached their natural completion through a smoothing mechanism.


MS. GIRVAN:  If you could please turn to page 12 of the compendium and in pages 7 to 15, what I've done is just copied some elements of the Union Gas settlement proposal from your 2014 to 2018 plan.


If you go to page 12, I think Mr. Kitchen just mentioned this, that you decreased base revenues by 4.5 million as a further upfront productivity commitment and that was embedded in your -- the current Union plan; is that correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So then if we move to page 17 of the compendium, this is the decision by the Board with respect to Enbridge's current plan.


And what happened there was a number of intervenors were arguing that there should be an adjustment to base rates based on the fact that Enbridge had been over earning into the previous period; is that correct?  You can see that there.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I recall this, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  So intervenors were looking for sort of an equivalent adjustment to what was agreed to in Union's IRM's settlement agreement.


MR. CULBERT:  I do recall, and I was on the stand for this aspect of the hearing and was taken through a number of questions about what drove this over-earnings in that period.  And the Board in its decision -- I don't have the passage in front of me -- agreed with the company that the circumstances around that, I'll call it extra earnings, was not necessarily going to continue going forward and agreed with the company that there should not be a base rate adjustment of this nature.


MS. GIRVAN:  So instead, what I think the Board did as another element of the plan is proposed an ESM for Enbridge, different than what you had proposed; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  The Board changed the ESM that we had proposed.  I don't know that it's necessarily attached directly to this one item that was proposed.


MS. GIRVAN:  That was part of your plan, though, that ESM move from -- I think it moved to the 50-50 on the first dollar, correct?


MR. CULBERT:  The Board made an adjustment to ESM for the reasons that they saw fit, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Thank you.  I you could please turn to page 21 of the compendium, and Mr. Shepherd referred to this earlier.


I am looking at the first table and this is setting out Enbridge's earnings sharing results.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  And in 2017, the preliminary results are the gross normalized over-earnings are $47.10 million; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Do we have a final number for that?  Your financial statements would be completed, wouldn't they?


MR. CULBERT:  It may be marginally different, but I don't think by too much.  Maybe two or three hundred thousand dollars, but I don't have a sense.  I could undertake to provide --


MS. GIRVAN:  Could you undertake to provide that?


MS. ADAMS:  -- what we will be filing.  I could do that.


MR. RICHLER:  J1.2.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.2:  TO PROVIDE THE FINAL RESULTS FOR THE GROSS NORMALIZED OVER-EARNINGS ARE $47.10 MILLION


MS. GIRVAN:  So I note that in 2017, there is this significant over-earnings.  Can you explain to me the drivers for that?


MR. CULBERT:  I don't have the details with me at this point in time.  It will certainly be part of that ESM application.


I can say that you are seeing the effect of -- in the 2016 ESM, from my recollection, we did have a restructuring of sorts which resulted in some FTE reductions.


You didn't see the full effect of that in 2016 because there were severance costs associated with it, and this is just one of the major contributors.  So now in 2017 you would be seeing a fuller effect of the savings that come from that restructuring versus what you would have seen in 2016.  So that would be one of the major components.


MS. GIRVAN:  If you could turn to page 25 of the compendium, and I think this is really what you were talking about, the head count from 2014 to 2018 has been reduced by about 266.  Is that correct?  If you take 2014 to --


MR. CULBERT:  I'll take it that your math's correct, so I would agree.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  So the impact of that it says below is of a hundred individuals, the savings range between nine and 10 million dollars; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  That's what it says.  So the impact of that 266 might be something like $25 million?


MR. CULBERT:  I don't know the amount right now.  Mr. Kitchen is pointing out to me that we had intended for a lot of the discussion around this type of thing being for panel 3, but --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So if we can go back to page 21, please.  And I just need a little bit of information here.


We have gross normalized over-earnings for Enbridge, and in 2014 because there is no deadband we see the full effect of -- we see the full number for over-earnings; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So -- and then down below for Union, because there's 100 basis points difference, of deadband, sorry, we don't see the full effect of the over-earnings.  Would it be possible to get those numbers?  I know Mr. Shepherd, he talked about them, but I don't think they were written down.


MR. KITCHEN:  I guess, Ms. Girvan, just so I understand what you're asking, you're asking for the dollar value associated with the difference between the allowed ROE and the actual ROE within the deadband; is that...


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, eliminate -- yeah, deadband.


MR. KITCHEN:  The dollar amount?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yeah, yeah.  And could we also get that on a normalized basis?  Because these are not normalized earnings.


MR. KITCHEN:  No, because our earnings sharing mechanism is off of actual.


MS. GIRVAN:  Could we see the numbers?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  This is not something that we would normally calculate, simply because we'd do our earnings sharing calculation based on actual earnings, so I think it would be a fair bit of work for us to go back and calculate -- to redo the calculation based on normalized earnings.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, could you maybe -- maybe what would work is if you could say directionally which way it would go?  Colder winter, warmer winter?


MR. KITCHEN:  We can do that.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, great.  So -- all right.  Thank you very much.


MR. RICHLER:  J1.3.


MS. GIRVAN:  Great.  Thank you.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.3:  TO ADVISE DIRECTIONALLY WHICH WAY THE EARNINGS SHARING MECHANISM WOULD GO, I.E., COLDER WINTER, WARMER WINTER.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, I'm just reviewing my notes and seeing what Mr. Shepherd has covered off.


So can you explain to me since you've made such significant reductions in staff why this couldn't be a base rate reduction?


MR. CULBERT:  You are referring to the EGD results, obviously, Ms. Girvan?  Well, as we pointed out earlier, the discussion with Mr. Shepherd alerted parties to the fact that we actually have capital spending amounts during the period which are not going into rates either, so our view is the Board's policy is they don't -- you don't do a cost-of-service rebasing for a MAADs application; you use a price cap methodology for rates going forward, so to perform a full cost-of-service rebasing for the purpose of MAADs, we don't view it as being a relevant element of the application.


In speaking with Mr. Shepherd earlier, the rate base value difference I've come to the answer is actually $457 million difference between Board-approved for '18 and what the estimate is, so that amounts to about a $35 million, I'll say, deficiency that we are not recovering the rates.


So you wouldn't just put one element of a rebasing through for O&M.  You'd have to look at the whole cost-of-service rebasing, which involves everything, which we don't believe is part of the Board's model for a MAADs application.


MS. GIRVAN:  So despite the fact of this rate base not being included, you were still able to earn $47 million over your allowed return in 2017?


MR. CULBERT:  To the point there were amounts that were generated from savings and productivities in various areas of the company and the capital overage allowed us still to earn that money, yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And that's despite the fact that the rate base isn't included?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, great.  Thank you.


MR. CULBERT:  Again, you will see all of the drivers of that earnings amount in the 2017 ESM application.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And when will that be filed?


MR. CULBERT:  We will be -- as I'm sitting here, we'll be filing that imminently, probably hopefully by the end of May, but more likely the early weeks of June.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


MR. CULBERT:  It will take a lot of my time to work on that as well.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Just bear with me for a second.


Okay.  I guess Mr. Shepherd was asking -- if you could turn to page 27 of the exhibit.  I just want to confirm this.


So to date where it says "no steps have been implemented to rationalize activities in each of these areas", you have not done that?  You are not pursuing that?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, if you could turn to page 30.  It's basically 30 of the attachment.  So this is the Enbridge Inc. org chart.  I think this is going to be prior to the amalgamation.  On page 31 we have post-amalgamation.  And I'm looking at this post-amalgamation.  Can you explain why things are structured this way just for me, to help me, why Enbridge's U.S. operations are the ones that ultimately own part of Amalco?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. REINISCH:  Prior to the merger between Spectra Energy and Enbridge Inc., Union Gas was owned by West Coast, which was owned by an American subsidiary of Spectra Energy, and so subsequent to the completion of the merger effectively a U.S. entity, which would be -- let me see if I get this right -- would be owning -- a U.S. entity would continue to own West Coast Energy.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Just sort of a -- trying to understand why it wasn't restructured to bring Amalco into the Canadian operations.


MR. REINISCH:  Again, that is a question that is under the -- that is a corporate Enbridge Inc. question.  They would consult with attorneys and their tax advisors to determine the appropriate organizational structure.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, and if you could go to the previous page, just a quick question, they talk about Enbridge U.S. Holdings, and it looks like there's a distribution company in Delaware; is that correct?  Is it distribution or is it marketing?


MR. CULBERT:  Ms. Girvan, are you referring to the -- I guess would be the left-hand side of the structure, where it starts "Tidal Energy Marketing"?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.


MR. CULBERT:  I guess Enbridge U.S. Inc., and then it goes down to Tidal, where it's about Delaware?


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes.  Maybe I should rephrase my question.


MR. KITCHEN:  Maybe, actually, if you could just re-ask your question --


MS. GIRVAN:  What I'm really interested in:  Does Enbridge Gas Distribution or Union Gas or Amalco, are they intending to have any relationship, direct relationship, with these companies under the Enbridge U.S. Holdings Inc.?


MR. CHARLESON:  So Enbridge Gas Distribution and -- or Amalco may be a client of Tidal Energy Marketing, but that would be the extent of the relationship as far as --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  To date, there is no direct operating relationship?


MR. CHARLESON:  No, separate organizations.  Again, we do -- Enbridge Gas Distribution does buy commodities through Tidal Energy in some cases.  They are a gas marketer that we buy from, same as many other gas marketers that aren't affiliated with Enbridge.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 32 of the compendium, please, it says here "customer protection measures" and the evidence there describes your scorecard and I have a few questions about that.


Are these the only customer protection measures that you have embedded in your plan?


MR. KITCHEN:  In addition to the scorecard, there would be the earnings-sharing mechanism, which the Board considers to be a consumer protection.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, the earnings-sharing that you've proposed.  With respect to this scorecard, are you proposing any remedies available to the Board if you don't meet your scorecard results?  What -- what's the Board going to do with this scorecard over the ten-year plan?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, the make up of the scorecard is really modeled after the electric scorecard.  It does include the SQRs that are currently approved by the Board.


Under the SQR mechanism, for lack of a better term, there are no penalties associated with not meeting the SQR. But the expectation is that we will and if we don't, we need to remedy that.  So I think that in answer to your question, no, we're not proposing any sort of penalties or remedies if we miss the SQR.  But we will definitely be doing everything we can to maintain, particularly, as we -- we take our customer interaction very seriously and we will be doing everything we can to maintain safe reliable service as part of the no harm test.


MR. RIETDYK:  I would add just one other aspect to the customer protection measures.  Beyond the scorecard, there are a number of legal and regulatory requirements certainly on the safety and the technical side that we have in operating and maintaining our system, that are in addition to these.


So those are minimum requirements that we will continue to meet and maintain throughout the life of our assets.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thanks.  So what can customers do if the metrics are showing poor performance?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think both utilities have a very strong track record in terms of meeting or exceeding the minimum requirements of the SQRs.


To the extent that any customer at any time feels that they are not getting the appropriate level of service from the current utilities or from Amalco, they are free to make a complaint to the Board.


That does happen on occasion, and those complaints do come back to the utility and are remedied.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So with respect to Z factors in the context of your plan, from what I understand you're proposing a $1 million materiality threshold.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  And in Union's current plan, the amount is 4 million and under Enbridge's current plan, the number in the materiality threshold is 1.5 million; is that correct?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  So what's changed in the sense of both for Union and Enbridge, where before Union was willing to accept the $4 million and Enbridge was willing to accept the $1.5 million?  What's changed in the context of this plan?


MR. CULBERT:  Our application for the Z factor we believe is consistent with what the Board's view is of the electricity consolidation policy, I'll say.  And for electricity entities, that the Board has set the Z factor at $1 million for entities with a $200 million or more revenue requirement and we're following the consistency with the Board's...


MS. GIRVAN:  So nothing has really changed. But before you were willing to accept 4 million and the 1.5.  It's just because the policy says it's the policy?


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think it is a matter of so much a change, but we were guided by the policy.  We set that out in Staff 23, our response to Staff 23, that that was what guided us.


Once we amalgamate, we are in longer Union, no longer EGD.  We will be a new entity and as a new entity, we chose to follow the guidelines.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could please turn to page 36.  We talked about this a bit at the technical conference, but this sort of sets out your ranges of potential capital investments and potential savings.


And I just wondered when do you expect to firm this up in terms of putting more meat on the bones, in terms of assessing what your real potential capital investment would be and what your real potential for O&M savings would be.  Is that in the next few months, the next year?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, as per our evidence, once we get a Board decision that allows us to amalgamate, we will begin the detailed planning.


We -- as we stated in our evidence, we will set up a project management office that will be charged with determining what the -- what initiatives will take place in what order.  And as part of that, there will be business cases produced with cost estimates and savings projections.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  If you could turn to page 35, this is Mr. Shepherd's chart about the impacts of the ICM proposals.


So can you just explain to me at the end of the day, what you're proposing to -- what ICM amount you are  proposing to recover in each of those years?  Which line is that?


MR. REINISCH:  The ICM eligible line Board presentation, page 22, the ICM eligible line is the fourth line down.  That would be the proxy for ICM, as well as the new ICM capital on the second line from the top.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.  So we talked a bit earlier about the 2.4 percent sort of annual rate increase.  I think that's correct; is that right?  That's your adjustment plus your ICM, is that correct?


MR. REINISCH:  Yes.


MS. GIRVAN:  Does that include the impacts of your pass-throughs, your Y factors, your DBAs?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  First, I'd like to clarify the question.  Are you asking does it include Y factor adjustments?


MS. GIRVAN:  Mm hmm, like DSM.


MR. REINISCH:  Could we please bring up our response to FRPO -- sorry, C FRPO 11?


I'll start with Union Gas on table 11 of this response.  As you can see from the -- sorry, the revenue requirement with escalation, just below that there is a flow-through table that shows the various flow-through mechanisms that have been modelled.


The first one is DSM.  As you can see there, the DSM is flow-through at the $63 million a year for the duration of the ten-year rebasing.  The flow-through adjustments and others, that's the capital pass-through adjustments that we've proposed as a result of deferring rebasing, continue on, and then there is the accumulated tax drawdown, and finally the ICM recovery as the fourth.


MS. GIRVAN:  Why do you have flow-through and adjustments, which is capital pass-through, but you also have ICM?


MR. REINISCH:  The capital pass-through was the mechanism in place between 2013 and 2018, so by deferring rebasing we have capital in those accounts that's being tracked and adjusted annually, so the proposal is as we defer rebasing to continue those accounts for the duration of the deferred rebasing period.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, so what's in here, all of these things are included in your 2.4 percent?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Could you point me -- and I'm not sure if it's in your evidence anywhere, but I'm just looking at the projected annual bill impacts and distribution rate impacts for residential customers.  Is that in the evidence?  Because I know it varies.  The 2.4 would vary amongst the various customer classes.


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, panel 3 will have witnesses from our rate design area.  There is the -- in terms of your question, is there evidence around the rate impacts, we have given residential bill impact comparisons, but I'm not sure if they actually are related to this proposal.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Is there any way we could get that prior to panel 3?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think we'd have to -- I'm not sure -- get the bill impacts associated with --


MS. GIRVAN:  Distribution rate impacts and bill impacts for residential customers.


MR. KITCHEN:  Let me -- just let me check at the break, and we'll get back to you on what we have and don't have and can get.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, great.  Thanks.


Just bear with me for a second.


So this is something that we talked about at the technical conference, and Mr. Kitchen, this is really for you, is we agreed that Union's current rates are based on the 2013 cost of service, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  And that the cost -- the underlying forecast for that and the underlying cost allocation study was done in 2011.  We talked about that at the technical conference, correct?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.  There were some --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay --


MR. KITCHEN:  -- adjustments that came about as part of the 2013 discussions to set the 2014 rate mechanism up, but, yes, that's basically --


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  So being an expert in rates -- and I know that you are -- at what point do you think it's appropriate to say, okay, look, we need to go back and look at cost causality when we are setting rates?  How much is too long?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, it would be actually nice to have the person responsible for rate design, but I will do my best.


I believe that, given the Board's policy around MAADs and the intended deferral, I think that you can defer rebasing for the ten years, and I'm not sure that there is a "too long", because the Board has numerous ways of deciding whether or not rates are just and reasonable.  If we're setting rates through a price cap, that is a way of setting rates that are just and reasonable.


MS. GIRVAN:  So are you aware of any other jurisdiction or any other rate plan in another jurisdiction that allows for a ten-year deferred rebasing period?


MR. KITCHEN:  I am not.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


I just want to confirm, the $400 million, your stand-alone scenario -- I think Mr. Shepherd took you through this today -- it's based on no sharing of staff and no rationalization of activities; is that correct?


MR. REINISCH:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Thank you.


And I had a question regarding real estate.  If you amalgamate and you end up selling properties, which I expect you'll do, how will you deal with the gains or losses on those properties during the planned term?


MR. KITCHEN:  Well, first of all, we were just discussing the fact that we can't think of a situation where we would be selling property as a result of the amalgamation.  There are a number of properties that we currently lease, and we'd look to utilizing -- utilizing existing properties first.


And until we actually do an integration plan I'm not sure that we can speculate on what property would be sold and whether or not there would be a gain or a loss, but to the extent that there was a gain or a loss, it would be to the account of the shareholder.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you.


And I think I just -- just one more question.  I just want to be clear on this.


With respect to your specific plan, Union or Enbridge never undertook customer engagement, specifically around the savings and the other elements of your plan.


MR. CULBERT:  Pardon me, I'm just looking up a reference here.


No, we did not do any consultation specific to the MAADs, and that's consistent, in our view, with the Board's policy on consolidation.  If you have that document available, the handbook to electricity distributor --


MS. GIRVAN:  Oh, I know the document.


MR. CULBERT:  -- and transmitter consolidations, January 19th, page 9, the Board in that policy development said:

"The OEB will not consider issues relating to the extent of due diligence, the degree of public consultation, or public disclosure by parties leading up to the filing of the transaction."

MS. GIRVAN:  So this was something you didn't think was important to do?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, we looked at it this way:  The Board went through extensive consultation in deriving its policy.  Obviously it had in its mind what the benefits of that policy could be.  So, you know, to do extensive public consultation on it, I'm not sure what you would do with that, given that the Board had decided on a policy that they believed was in the public interest.


MS. GIRVAN:  With respect to electricity distributors?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, and as we've pointed out numerous times, you've heard, Ms. Girvan, we believe the policy is applicable to natural gas entities as identified in the natural gas filing requirements under the utility consolidation section.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay.  Some of us might disagree with that.  Anyway, those are my questions.  Thank you.


MR. RIETDYK:  I am going to just add on there on the customer engagement side, even though it wasn't specifically undertaken on the MAADs filing itself, we did undertake extensive customer engagement -- both Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas undertook that as -- and have included those documents --


MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, I'm aware of those with respect to your capital.


MR. RIETDYK:  Right.  And ultimately customers are interested in price reliability and safety, and that's been consistent throughout all of the customer engagement we've done over the years.


MS. GIRVAN:  Just one final question, sorry, I just saw in my notes here.  If you could turn to CCC number 31.  It is actually not in the compendium.


So this is again likely for you, Mr. Kitchen, and it is something we -- again, we talked about at the technical conference.  In the third paragraph it says:
"The applicants also propose stand-alone changes for distinct cost elements to address identified issues, make improvements, and respond to changing business needs."

Can you explain to me what that means?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  I think, Ms. Girvan, this one should be left to panel 3, when we actually have rate design and cost allocation representation.


MS. GIRVAN:  I have a couple of follow ups, but I'll take that up with panel 3.


Thank you, those are my questions.  Do I get a prize?


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, you've gained us some time.  It is a bit early to take the break.  I'm just polling people whether we should forge on with BOMA for a few minutes before we take that break.


Yes, we will -- but certainly I think we want to take it by 3:15 at the latest, so if you can, as you are you are asking your questions, think about where kind of a good break is.


Mr. Brett, I think you're next.


MR. BRETT:  Yes, I am.  I can ask questions up to 3:15, then we'll break and carry on when we come back.


MS. ANDERSON:  Let's find a natural break and where you're asking.  But I don't want to go longer than that.

Cross-Examination by Mr. Brett:

MR. BRETT:  Yes, could I ask you -- good afternoon, panel.  Could I ask you to turn up page 13 of the BOMA compendium, please?  I think you have those copies.  I hope you do.


And as you know, Mr. Kitchen, we spoke about this briefly at the technical conference.  This is part of your evidence, attachment 12, and it is a table that you put together, which I think you described at the technical conference as your sort of best estimate, given what you know at the moment, as to how your $150 million of investments will roll out.  These are your implementation investments, integration investments, if you like, and how your 620 -- sorry, 680 million of savings will be incurred or garnered, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  And if you look -- I want to just draw your attention to, first of all, the far right column -- first of all, the top part of the table are the investments that you are going to make, and you show investments being made in 2019, 2020, '21, '22, and '23, after which you show no further investments.


And if you look five lines down under "Subtotal costs", it shows the costs incurred, the investments incurred in each of those five years.  And if I just read across, it's 11, 36, 58, 37, 13 for a total of 150.


The second part of the table deals with savings, and it deals with when the savings are realized and in what amounts.  So again if you look at the O&M savings, look at subtotal of the savings which is sort of three quarters of the way down, and that gives you the savings realized in each year.  And you see in 2020, reading across, 38 million, 51 million in '21, 53 million in '22, 53 million in '23, and then it jumps up to 85 million for each of the next five years.  And the grand total shown there is 620, and then you have some additional savings shown in the next line, so you've got a total of 680 million.


So those are the numbers that we were speaking about earlier this morning, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. BRETT:  Now, I want to just ask you to just come with me on this little exercise, which will be very shortly followed by a question.


If you look at the first five years from 2019 to 2023, you have of course the total investments of 150 million.  If you look at the first five years under the column at the bottom, subtotal savings, you have a total savings, if my arithmetic is right, of 255 million.  That's taking the subtotal savings for 2019 through 2023 and adding those up.


Subject to check, would you accept that?  I hope that's right.


MR. REINISCH:  Subject to check, yes.


MR. BRETT:  And the other thing I would like to ask you about is I want to look at sort of -- broadly speaking, at a very high-level, I want to look at essentially your net cash position as you go forward.


As you look at 2019, you're out 11 million.  You have 11 million in investment and you don't have -- sorry, my mistake.  You are out 8 million.  You have 11 million of investment, you recover 3 million in savings.


In 2020, you have 36 million in investment and you recover 38 million in savings.


In '21, 53 million in investment and 63 million in savings.


You can see, as you go forward in that five-year period, the savings that you are generating on a year over year basis are getting larger, relative to the investment.  I'm just talking about the first five years for now.


So effectively, you are not out of pocket cash at any point during that five-year period.  And in fact, according to this table, which is your best estimate as you said in the technical conference, you are -- you are always in-pocket, essentially.  You have excess cash-flow in 2020 of a million, in 2021 -- I'm trying to read my writing here, roughly 11 in 2022, 33 and 2023, 68 million.


So over the five-year period, you're recovering -- would you agree with me that you're recovering -- just looking at the five years for a moment, you are recovering your $150 million outlay and then you're also recovering an additional, subject to check, about 102 million.


So that's what's happening on a cash basis, right?


MR. REINISCH:  Subject to check, I think it's about 155 million.


MR. BRETT:  I understand.  I may be a million out here.  I'm not a -- it has been a long time since I studied mathematics.


MR. REINISCH:  Sorry, Mr. Brett, I did want to add one thing, though.  These are nominal cash amounts.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  These are nominal.  They're all nominal, both the costs and the savings?


MR. REINISCH:  That is correct.


MR. BRETT:  Okay.  So the question...


MR. CULBERT:  Pardon me from for jumping in, Mr. Brett.  I've said this before.  These are also relative, these projections, to the baseline stand-alone scenarios that the company provided in table 3 of its analysis.


So the savings we have to generate -- I know I've said this numerous times.  First, we have to generate savings up to $410 million just to get back to where we would have been at the start on a stand-alone basis.  These aren't $608 million --


MR. BRETT:  You're broadening the scope of this discussion substantially.  You have the right do that, of course.  I apologize for interrupting you.  Do you want to carry on?


MR. CULBERT:  I just wanted to make sure we are clear on what this represents.


MR. BRETT:  And I'm speaking only of this construct that you have of we'll make these investments of such and such, and we'll garner savings of such and sufficient over the five-year period and we'll take the risk; we, the utility, will take whatever the risk is on this.


It looks like the risk-reward ratio on this particular table is pretty handsome.  But let me ask you this, this is really... given that cash-flow and given that return picture, if I just look at this chart, why would you -- let me ask it this way.  My sense of what your -- of why you're seeking the ten-year period in this case is really that in light of your analysis of the Board's guidelines and applying them to the gas industry, you're taking this ten-year approach because it's on offer to you, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, I couldn't hear that last part of your question there.


MR. BRETT:  You couldn't hear it?


MR. KITCHEN:  I couldn't hear the last part of the question.


MR. BRETT:  I said it's because it's on offer to you.  You're pushing on an open door.


MR. KITCHEN:  The MAADs policy allows for up to a ten-year deferred rebasing period, and as we've said in Staff 4, given the complexity of -- the complexity and number of systems and processes that need to be changed, we believe we need the full ten years.


MR. BRETT:  All right.  The -- let me -- let me move on.  I'd ask you to turn up page 8, please, of the -- of the compendium.  This is a rather different kind of question, but if you look at page 8, this is a -- doesn't look like -- sorry, just a moment here.  Sorry.  Page 18.  I'm sorry.  Look at page 18 of our compendium.


Now, this is an excerpt -- this is a one-page excerpt from a decision of the -- from a report of the Board in EBO-195.  It is a report of the Board to the Lieutenant Governor in Council on the question of the merger between Union Gas and Centra Gas.


And it was a -- and in that -- I turn your attention to paragraph 4.1.26, and this is in the Board's findings, decision -- or findings part of the report.  She says here -- Marie Rounding was the Chair at that time -- she says here:

"The current existence of three major gas utilities in Ontario is valuable to the regulatory process in that comparisons can be made among the utilities. On the other hand, the merged company will become more comparable to Consumers Gas, making comparisons in certain ways more meaningful."

Now, I asked you about this idea of comparison, Mr. Kitchen, at the technical conference, and you -- I asked the question:  Well, look, given that you are going to one utility through this amalgamation that has 91 -- 99.1 percent or something like that of the total distribution market in the province, you're not going to have the ability any more, the Board isn't going to have the ability any more, to set off and look at Union in relation to Enbridge, the way they've done over the years, in order to see if they can elicit best practices, and in your answer you said, oh, no, it doesn't really matter that much, because we compare ourselves to all the other utilities in North America and we benchmark ourselves against these utilities and so on and so forth, so that really isn't a loss.  We are not losing anything in that sense by this merger.


But aren't -- wouldn't you agree with me that it's one thing for -- to say that, well, the Board could look at what's going on around the world and, you know, places like Rhode Island and Arkansas and Kansas, whatever; it is another thing to say that the Board can actually analyze what Enbridge is doing, versus what Union has been doing across the array of their activities in the same province, with roughly the same conditions and the same institutional background, and use those comparisons to elicit best practices.


Would you not agree that that's a different thing than saying the Board can -- well, we're still being -- the world will compare us with other countries and other jurisdictions.  It's not the same thing, is it?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. KITCHEN:  It was a long preamble to the question, so I'm trying to sort out how long my answer needs to be, but I think the first thing I'd want to point to is that this -- paragraph 4.1.26 was clearly written some time ago, and it was written in a time before the MAADs policy came into place, and I think that it was also written before the RRF, the review regulatory framework.


And to the extent that we are now amalgamating and proposing to amalgamate and part of that amalgamation will bring savings to customers in Ontario, we view that to be a very positive thing and something that the Board and intervenors should want to see.


In terms of the comparability to other utilities, to be honest, I'm going to have to go back and check the transcript on that one.  I think that the Board will still have oversight over Amalco and will still regulate us in the way that they have in the past.


Union and Enbridge as separate entities, you know, we talked together before the merger, and we always sought best practices together, so I'm not sure that much really turns on what was said in this report to the -- I guess to the LJC at the time, but I think in a nutshell, it is better for customers in Ontario, and the Board will still have significant oversight over our operations.


MR. BRETT:  Thank you.


Now, I don't know that I can actually -- I'd ask you to just maybe -- maybe I can finish off with this question and then you can -- I'd ask you to turn up page 125 of Volume 1 of the transcript for the technical conference.  And this is -- I think this is the right reference.  I'm confident that there is a reference in here.  And I looked at it just over the lunch hour again.


Yeah, all right.  If you look down at about line 22, Mr. Kitchen, you and I were discussing asset management plans at that point, and your evidence there is that you will have -- I was asking you about the fact that you now each have an asset plan.  You're amalgamating, so you are now going to logically produce a merged asset plan for the new utility, the single new utility, and the question is how is that going to proceed, and you said, well, we're going to have it -- there is a lot of work to do.  We're going to have it by the sixth year.  You didn't say whether the beginning or the end, but you said here at this passage: "The plans would be merged over the first six years."


You stand by that statement, I take it?


MR. KITCHEN:  First of all, Mr. Brett -- oh, sorry.  First of all, Mr. Rietdyk can respond to that, but I don't have the proper reference.


MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see.  123.  It's --


MR. KITCHEN:  123.


MR. BRETT:  Let me slow down a bit here.  It's -- even though I'm slow as it is, I'll slow down further.  It is page 123 of the Volume 1 of the technical conference.  It's line 22 toward the bottom, Mr. Kitchen.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.  I'll let Mr. Rietdyk respond to that, but I think in terms of the transcript itself it was referencing Board Staff 54, Part C, but with that I'll turn it over to Mr. Rietdyk.


MR. BRETT:  Oh, I see.  All right.


MR. RIETDYK:  So as I mentioned this morning, our intention would be to merge the asset plans as quickly as possible.  I think what was referred to here in terms of the six years was full integration, potentially between two and six years, and that includes all the systems and processes that the two companies have right now to optimize that plan itself, so we both have different mechanisms for that optimizing the capital within those plans.


There are a number of common elements and I'd say strategically the two plans are very aligned.  The terminology is different.  So our intention will be to bring that together fairly quickly, and we think we can do that on the second iteration of this.  So not necessarily for the 2019 rates filing, but for the 2020.


There may be some aspects that will still be legacy Union or legacy Enbridge Gas Distribution specific, until we can merge the back end systems and processes.


And we would identify those within the asset management plan when that happens.  So we just don't have a good estimate at this point in time of exactly how long that would take.


MR. BRETT:  So you are saying that you will have a single asset plan in place by 2020?


MR. RIETDYK:  We can present it as a single asset plan and there are a number of elements that we can present as a -- in a common format structure and terminology.


Again, it is similar to the aspects around the maintenance -- or the optimization of the whole maintenance plan that may still be a legacy utility-specific.


MR. BRETT:  So in terms of your -- all right, two questions and perhaps -- well, perhaps we should break because this may take a few minutes.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, and when we come back, how much more time do you think?


MR. BRETT:  Well, I have the remainder of my 45 minutes.  I'll be within that.


MS. ANDERSON:  I was kind of hoping we could cut that a bit short, so we could fit Energy Probe in today if possible.  Is that possible?


MR. BRETT:  It depends a bit on these folks, but we'll try.


MS. ANDERSON:  We'll try.


MR. BRETT:  Yes.


MS. ANDERSON:  And just a reminder that after the break, there were a couple of things we asked.  One is whether parties can let us know if they plan to cross-examine on the conditions -- cross-examine these witnesses or any witnesses on the conditions with Chatham-Kent.  And we also asked about objections to the PEG analysis, whether -- what did we call it?  Working papers, I believe, and whether there's any objections to confidential treatment on that.


And I would actually like to hear the answer to Ms. Girvan's question on bill impacts as well, so I think you said you would say something after the break.  I'd like to hear that.


And I think with that, we'll take 15 minutes.

--- Recess taken at 3:18 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:35 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  I think we'll let Mr. Brett finish first, and then we'll ask about this.


MR. BRETT:  Thanks very much, Madam Chair.  I've purged this list a little bit in light of some other questions by other speakers.


Just going back to what we were discussing before the break, panel, is it your -- is it your expectation that you will be able to file a distribution system plan in the next period, and when will that likely be?  In other words, not an asset management plan but a distribution system plan that is built upon an asset management plan.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, as I indicated earlier, it is our plan to file a distribution plan as part of the '19 rates application.  The timing for that application will, of course, depend on when we get the decision from this application and how long it takes us to put the rates --


MR. BRETT:  Just want to make sure I got this.  Sorry, I didn't mean to interrupt you at the end.  Did you say 2019?


MR. KITCHEN:  For 2019 rates.


MR. BRETT:  For 2020.


MR. KITCHEN:  No, we'll be filing -- after we get through this application, which will -- one of the components of this is to set the rate-setting mechanism.


MR. BRETT:  Right.


MR. KITCHEN:  Once we get the rate-setting mechanism determined then we'll have to file another application for 2019 rates to actually determine what those rates are.


MR. BRETT:  And so that -- and that -- will that be a separate distribution system plan for each of the two utilities?  Or integrated system distribution plan for the merged utility?


MR. KITCHEN:  My expectation is there will be a single distribution asset plan, but there will be components of it that will be individual to Union and EGD as we transition to common asset management plans.


MR. BRETT:  As I understand what you're saying, your capital allocation, for want of a better phrase, will still be done -- you are not proposing that this -- your capital allocation will remain -- will be done on an individual company basis?  What I mean by that, in light of particularly Mr. Rietdyk's comments about optimization and prioritization, those -- you're not -- are you proposing that you will be prioritizing and optimizing your asset management plan and your distribution system plan on the basis of the entire merged corporation, or are you still going to have two silos in terms of -- in other words, you prioritize your list of projects for Union and you prioritize your list of projects for Enbridge, but you don't prioritize and optimize them one with another, for the entire corporation?  Which is -- what will happen?


MR. RIETDYK:  So again, we'll come back to the asset management plan, and there are some common elements to both plans:  Municipal replacement, vehicle purchases, things like that that we'll be able to bring together and show common fairly quickly, but we will still have different assets assigned to different rate zones, and at least in terms of how the optimization methodology is put forward, that's going to be a little bit different until we can merge the underlying systems and processes behind those.


So for a little while until we can merge those they will be separate.


MR. BRETT:  And are those differences just differences of back-office process or are they actually also -- I took you to be inferring earlier that they are differences in the way you actually conceptualize and run your optimization and prioritization among the -- between the two companies?


MR. RIETDYK:  Conceptually there's a lot of similarities between them, so strategically there is alignment there.  The specific methodology that is used between the two utilities is different, so Enbridge Gas Distribution uses a quantitative process because they've got the data and the systems that allow that.  Union does not.  So we use a semi-quantitative process that's informed by quantitative data but not completely quantitative.  So that's the main difference between the two.


MR. BRETT:  And finally, I may have -- I'm sure this is somewhere, and I may have missed it, but what's your timetable for -- when do you propose to harmonize your rates among the two companies?


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Brett, I think if we turned up Staff 58.  I hope that's right.


So in Staff 58 we said that to the extent to which rate zones will be harmonized will be determined over the deferred rebasing period, and that would be filed as part of our rebasing application in 2029.


MR. BRETT:  Sorry, I'm looking at this answer, and I may have been reading while you were speaking:

"The extent to which rate zones will be harmonized will be determined over the deferred rebasing term."

So you are saying in 2028 they will be rebased?


MR. KITCHEN:  As part of the 2029 rebasing application is when we bring forward any proposals to harmonize.


MR. BRETT:  If I could --


MR. KITCHEN:  Part of the response here also is that, you know, that even today Union and Centra rates have not been completely harmonized.  It is an analysis that we are going to have to do over the rebasing period, and we will bring forward a proposal.


MR. BRETT:  It is interesting, actually, if you look back at that case the company said they would be coming in within a couple of years to harmonize the rates, and they never did.  But let me ask you this:  Are you -- I'm hearing you say you are not actually committing to harmonizing the rates at any point in time.  You are going to examine it and see to what extent you should do it, but your point about referring to this little piece here, I take it, is to raise the possibility that 20 years from now you'll still have different rates in some respects, right?


MR. KITCHEN:  It's possible, Mr. Brett.  The reason we haven't harmonized Union and -- south and Union north rates completely is that we have -- they are served by different assets and in different manners, and we've harmonized rate structures but haven't harmonized rates.


And again, I'm not pre-judging anything that we're going to do in 2029.  We need to do the analysis.


MR. BRETT:  Okay, those are my questions, thank you.


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.


So to the questions that we posed, does anyone have any objections to the PEG working papers being treated confidential?


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, we've discussed it with Board Staff and with our -- and internally, and we don't have any objection.  It seems like it's standard practice.


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, does anyone have any objections?  Okay.  That was an easy one.


And to the matter of -- hopefully people have looked at the Chatham-Kent letter and the conditions there.  Does anyone plan to cross-examine on them?  Sorry, Mr. Yauch.


MR. YAUCH:  We don't plan on cross-examining.  We just have a couple -- I guess a concern, and then one question related to a day (sic).  It appears that Amalco has gone in negotiation -- settlement negotiations with one party and now other parties, so, I mean, we are a bit concerned about that, and second, are you going to file any updated evidence related to conditions approval?  So for example, some of these conditions might actually alter this cost and benefits that we are going to receive over the next ten years.  We're just curious if Amalco is going to provide any sort of evidence if it does change as a result of these conditions of approval?  I don't think it requires --


MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, so I'm not sure we need the answer right now.  We were just exploring whether this was a subject.  I think what the Panel is thinking -- and I trust that either Mr. Richler or Mr. Millar will make sure Mr. Warren is aware of this -- is whether this is a matter that could be dealt with just through argument or not.  And so that's one of the things that we're wondering, and if it was dealt with through argument one of the areas that we would be interested in submissions on is, you know, why conditions such as this are consistent with the OEB's mandate.  It would be helpful to have submissions on that, if that's -- when we get to that point.  Mm-hmm.  Mr. Shepherd.


MR. SHEPHERD:  Madam Chair, as I indicated, we just heard about this today.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes.


MR. SHEPHERD:  And our expectation was that, to the extent that there would be any concern about economic benefits or cost to Chatham-Kent, that Mr. Warren would be cross-examining on that, and so the record would be a full record, and we would be able to make argument on it, we'd see how much it costs and, you know, like that.


And so, if what Mr. Warren is saying is no, I'm not going to cross-examine on it, there is going to be no record, we're a little bit at a loss.  I'm not prepared to deal with this.  I don't know whether it's even worth spending the time on.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, I don't believe Mr. Warren has made any sort of suggestion at all.  I think he -- our assumption is that he does plan to cross-examine on this.


The question we had is whether it was something that could be dealt with through argument.


Again, better discussion tomorrow when Mr. Warren, we expect, will be here.  So I don't want to take up any more time with it.  We just wanted to see what the sort of initial comments are before we got into any cross-examination on it.  So thank you.


And on the issue of bill impacts?


MR. KITCHEN:  I spoke with our rates people, and what we can do, recognizing that it is a fair amount of work to do it for each of the ten years, what we thought we'd do is do a residential bill impact for 2019 and then for 2028, which would give you sort of the beginning point and the end point, and essentially everything else goes up by inflation and by the ICM over that period.  And hopefully that would be helpful.


MS. GIRVAN:  Well, I thought you were going to provide a bill impact including ICM, et cetera, all the elements.


MR. KITCHEN:  No, no, it will be a complete bill impact.  All I'm saying is that we have to make -- it's a lot of work involved and a fair number of assumptions to actually get to a residential bill impact.  So rather than trying to do it for ten years, we thought we could do it for 2019 and 2028, which would give sort of the bookends of the rate impacts.


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, I guess we'd have to have a look at that.


MS. ANDERSON:  So that's an undertaking.


MR. RICHLER:  Undertaking --


MR. MONDROW:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt, but if I might be able to ask a question about that of Mr. Kitchen?

Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Mondrow:

You referred to those as bookends, but of course the rate impact could go up and down.


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes.


MR. MONDROW:  So some indication of -- some confirmation that those are in fact bookends in the response would be helpful.  Otherwise, I'm not sure that it is getting full information.


MR. KITCHEN:  We will try to give some indication of that.


MR. MONDROW:  That would be helpful.  Thank you very much.


MR. RICHLER:  J1.4.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.4:  TO PROVIDE RESIDENTIAL BILL IMPACT ESTIMATES FOR 2019 AND 2028

MS. ANDERSON:  Now, I think we're moving on to Energy Probe.  Mr. Ladanyi?


So I think you were scheduled for 45 minutes and we will probably conclude the day at that point.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  I hope to be less than 45 Minutes.


MS. ANDERSON:  Then we'll see if we can move on to someone new.
Cross-Examination by Mr. Ladanyi:

MR. LADANYI:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is Tom Ladanyi, and I am a consultant to Energy Probe.  Maybe we could have somebody pull up the Energy Probe compendium.


And before I go to that, I just have a follow-up question from something that Mr. Shepherd asked this morning.


The GTA project.  I understand that the GTA project is not in rate base right now.  Is that right, Mr. Culbert?


MR. CULBERT:  It is not in rate base for rate-making purposes, that's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  So where is it?  Has it been closed to plant accounts?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, it has been closed to plant accounts, and the financial results used for earning sharing purposes, it has been included in those for the past number of years.


MR. LADANYI:  So for earning sharing purposes, it is essentially being treated as if it was an asset in rate base.  But actually it is not an asset in rate base for rate-setting purposes, is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  Now let's to go our compendium.  Could you turn to page 2 of the compendium, please?


MR. KITCHEN:  Mr. Ladanyi, just before we begin, could someone remind me of the exhibit number for...


MR. LADANYI:  For the compendium?  Yes, it is K1.4.  So this will be for Mr. Kitchen.  Mr. Kitchen, were you a witness in this proceeding, EB-2013-0202?


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't remember if I was a witness or if I was sitting where Ms. Innis is.


MR. LADANYI:  What I mean to say is were you familiar with that case?  This is the IRM plan that is ending in 2018, is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, I was familiar with it and yes, I was a witness.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, very good.  Was there a complete settlement of the issues in that case?


MR. KITCHEN:  Yes, there was.


MR. LADANYI:  Could you turn to page 6 of the compendium, please?  And the page numbers are, by the way, in the upper left hand coroner.  They are kind of small, but there they are.


Do you see the blue highlighted section?  I apologize that the blue might actually hide some of the text, but I hope it's readable.


Could you tell me what exactly is the meaning of "full cost of service filing for 2019 regardless of whether or not to be used for rate-setting, subject to agreement to extend the IRM term."


What does that mean?


MR. KITCHEN:  At the time we negotiated the 2013 -- or the through 2014 through 2018 IRM, it was our expectation that we would enter rebasing after five years for 2019.


Subsequent to that, we obviously have gone through the merger and are pursuing amalgamation under MAAD, which proposes to -- which part of that is a deferral of rebasing.


MR. LADANYI:  So there has been no agreement to extend the IRM, has there?


MR. KITCHEN:  We are not proposing to extend the IRM.  We are proposing to amalgamate under MAADs and defer rebasing.


MR. LADANYI:  Quite right. But the agreement implies there would have been -- when you negotiated the settlement, that there would be a subsequent settlement agreement five years hence, whereby there would be an agreement to extend the IRM.  And there was no been no settlement agreement in this proceeding, as far as I know.


MR. KITCHEN:  Based on the information we had at the time, we were under the assumption that we would be entering into a five-year IRM followed by a rebasing.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.  Can you turn to page 7 of the compendium?  This would be for Mr. Culbert.


This is a transcript of February 20th, 2014, in the EB-2012-0459 case.  Mr. Culbert, you were a witness in that proceeding?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I was.


MR. LADANYI:  And that proceeding was essentially the Enbridge proposal for a custom IR application ending in 2018, is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So could you turn to page 13 of the compendium?  And I'm skipping some areas because I feel that the way you've covered them in other ways, so I'll just go to what I consider to be points I'd like to make.


MR. KITCHEN:  Excuse me, Mr. Ladanyi, sorry to interrupt.  But I just realized that my compendium is missing every other page, so it is a bit hard for me to follow.  I wonder if you could --


MR. LADANYI:  It is online.  You can look at it on the screen, please.


MR. KITCHEN:  It's nice to be able to flip sometimes.


MR. LADANYI:  So page 13 should look like page 126 of the transcript.  So we have it there?


So at the bottom of the page, Mr. Shepherd is asking questions of Mr. Culbert and Mr. Lister.


And Mr. Lister was a witness for Enbridge in that proceeding;, is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So if you could turn to the next page, which is page 14 of the compendium, you will notice that Mr. Shepherd is asking, he says:
"You are agreeing that you will file -- regardless of whether you are rebasing, you will file a full cost of service application in 2019."

And your answer, Mr. Culbert, is, "That's correct" Do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  By the way, when you gave that answer, you were fully expecting to file a full cost of service application in 2019, is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, and I think as you would see in our evidence, up until partway through this past fiscal year, each entity was planning to file an incentive regulation plan and the MAADs policy is what is driving this application.  So there was an intention for each of the entities, I believe, to file some sort form of an incentive regulation model.  That's what this is, a price cap within the MAADs policy, which, again to Mr. Kitchen's point, does not require a rebasing.  And in fact, it's probably counter-productive to produce cost of service data in an application which doesn't require a rebasing.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.  So could you turn to page 15, please, of the compendium?  And there, Mr. Rickman -- and Mr. Rickman I believe was a witness for Enbridge on the same panel with you?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And you will see the highlighted part, where Mr. Ryckman says:

"So I would agree with you that it is important to have a sight line to those things, and rebasing would be an appropriate time to bring up issues around productivity over the IR term as well."

So Mr. Ryckman, as I understand here, was expecting there would be a discussion about productivity at rebasing; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I would agree.


MR. LADANYI:  So what you are now saying, that these discussions about productivity on rebasing will be taking place ten years from now; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, actually, for EGD -- I'm sure Union is the same to a degree -- we have had financial performance area witnesses providing insights as to our productivity endeavours and things we've achieved in the past five years.  Those things have been presented.  I think they're attached to CCC interrogatory -- I'm going by memory -- 6 or 8, one of the two, so we've in fact had witnesses at each one of our ESMs and annual stakeholders days presenting what our productivities have been through the term, so there's been lots of discussion around the productivities that we've achieved.


MR. LADANYI:  But the big discussion that would have some rate impacts would really take place at the rebasing.  I mean, you can have discussions, information can be exchanged in the interim period, but really at rebasing that's when the rate impact would happen; isn't that right?


MR. CULBERT:  We agree with that, sure, that's when that would happen, but again, the context of this application is under a MAADs policy, and...


MR. LADANYI:  So by the way also, wouldn't the information about productivity savings up to 2018 be pretty old, really?  The information would be pretty old by the time you have discussion ten years from now.  Some of this information will be like 14 years old.  This would be really ancient history.  Wouldn't it be difficult to have those discussions in 14 years after these productivity savings happened?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, as I've said, we've been having discussions around our productivity achievements through the five-year term.  We will have further discussions in our '17 results and '18 results.  We will still have an '18 ESM application to file, so those will all be visible in those proceedings, so that information will not be out-of-date, necessarily.


The productivities that the amalgamation entity achieves, those will be discussion for the rebasing at 2029.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, could you turn to page 16.  And this is the cover page of the hearing -- of the same hearing.  It's 1 and 2, February 21st, 2014, which is just over four years ago.


And if you'll go to page 17, please, which is the next page in the compendium.  And there is a discussion.  Now, I have not included the previous page, but you -- because it's not necessary, but you can look it up.  There is nothing hidden there.


Mr. Janigan is asking Mr. Lister about something called clawing back, and he says:

"So clawing back refers to resetting the rates after the IR period to costs; isn't that correct?"

And Mr. Lister replies:

"That's correct.  So a stream of benefits would ensue (sic) an investment, and the utility wouldn't be afforded the opportunity to benefit from the full stream of benefits.  So they would be effectively rebased or clawed back at the rebasing."

Could you explain to me what does the term "clawed back" mean in that context?


MR. CULBERT:  Well, my review of the passage, it seems self-evident.  It is that, to your point, that the activities that would have come about in the five-year term would be included in your forecast of costs going forward for a rebasing application.


So Mr. Reinisch and I have tried to point out that the stand-alone scenarios that we've developed for comparison includes the productivities that have occurred through the EGD's five-year period into that base case assumption,
so --


MR. LADANYI:  So isn't this a bit of a zero sum game, though?  The clawing back from the utility perspective is actually a benefit or a saving from a ratepayer's perspective; isn't that right?


MR. CULBERT:  It would be inclusion of productivities into your projections or forecast of costs on a go-forward basis, yes, I agree with that.


MR. LADANYI:  So the clawing back that you are now proposing, to use the term that Mr. Lister used, is not going to happen ten years from now; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yeah, my answer is the same as before.  The cost-of-service rebasing is not necessary in this application.  I've -- we've pointed out various -- variances have occurred at EGD.  We've got capital overages that are worth 35 million.  We've got O&M savings that have occurred, and we're not looking at a total cost-of-service rebasing in this application.


So to the extent that those would go into rates, all of that cost-of-service rebasing, that would happen in the 2029 rebasing, yes, that's --


MR. LADANYI:  Wouldn't it really, from what you're saying, the conclusion I can draw, that it is actually in the utility shareholders' interest to delay clawing back of benefits as long as possible; isn't that right?


MR. CULBERT:  No, I don't agree with that.  As I pointed out, if you look at the derivation of the cost-of-service results and numbers that we included in our analysis, the effect of those savings for O&M are included in those results, as are all of the costs that we've incurred that are different from what was approved from a PP&E perspective as well.


So I don't look at it as one item as being what is necessarily the only relevant aspect of a rebasing, it's the entire rebasing that is important.


MR. LADANYI:  Are you saying clawing back is positive from a shareholders' perspective?


MR. CULBERT:  No, I am not saying we are not clawing back anything, Mr. Ladanyi.  We are simply deferring rebasing until the point in time that the Board's MAAD policy suggests that we have the option of doing that.


MR. KITCHEN:  And Mr. Ladanyi, I just wanted to add to that.  You talked about clawing back and productivity being looked at in 2029.  As I've said, we are entering into a price cap mechanism, which means our jump-off point is our 2018 rates.  Now, we have included a couple of base rate adjustments to recognize items that are expiring from prior decisions, but essentially our rates are jumping off from a point of 2018 rates.


Those rates are premised and include any productivity that was -- came out of the prior -- prior years, so for Union, that's the $4.5 million upfront productivity adjustment and the fact that rates were increased by only 40 percent of inflation, so that's -- that's part of the benefit that ratepayers will continue to get over the deferred rebasing period.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  I'll leave it at that.


Now, let's go to page 22 of the compendium --


MS. SPOEL:  Can I just ask a question?  I just have a question about that.


So when you said that, Mr. Kitchen, you are assuming that if the 2018 -- if there was a rebasing, that the rates would go up.


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MS. SPOEL:  Okay.  If there was a rebasing in 2018 or 2019.


MR. KITCHEN:  In 2019.


MS. SPOEL:  In 2019.


MR. KITCHEN:  In 2019 then --


MS. SPOEL:  That the rates would increase as opposed to some -- being clawed back in some way, as was the discussion --


MR. KITCHEN:  That is correct.


MS. SPOEL:  Thank you.


MR. LADANYI:  So just -- this is interesting.  If I can just follow up on that.  So you are working off the assumption that when you rebased you would have actually got a rate increase, and all these productivity savings that would have occurred over the past five years would have completely been offset by rate -- by cost increases; is that what you're saying?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  So this kind of in a way, you are arguing against IRM, because you are saying that IRM should have been promised by utilities to the OEB that would deliver savings on rebasing, it actually causes an increase in costs over time.  This is very puzzling.


MR. KITCHEN:  I don't think I'm saying that at all.  What I'm saying is that, in at least in the case of Union, that we made productivity commitments over the IRM, and over that time we've also faced increasing costs, and when we get to a point where we would have rebased, we would have needed to make a rate -- propose a rate increase to recover those increasing costs.


MR. LADANYI:  But there is a possibility that if we had the rebasing hearing -- and I don't want to argue with you.  This is a subject for argument -- there is a possibility the Board might disallow some of your costs, so even though you might be expecting a rate increase, actually, you might get a rate decrease.  There is definitely a possibility of that; isn't that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  There is always a possibility that we may not get everything we ask for.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, can I go to page 22.  I'm trying to keep this going as quickly as possible so we can all go home or go to the next intervenor.


So on page 22, which is a page from Enbridge's argument in-chief, in that same case, and if you'll notice the highlighted section, and -- at the bottom of the page, and it talks about, it says:

"Full cost-of-service information for the first rate proceeding at the end of the IR term."

And the right-hand column says "no change", and I understand the right-hand column is Enbridge's proposal.


So essentially what they're saying here in argument in-chief is that there will be a full cost-of-service proceeding; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  This is from the CR application, Mr. Ladanyi?


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, it's the same application.


MR. CULBERT:  I think we had that this conversation two or three minutes ago.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, we did.  I wanted to confirm that.  Let's go on to the next page, which is page 23.


Okay, Mr. Culbert, do you see the highlighted section?  It says RCAM.


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  So for the benefit of those who don't know what RCAM stand for, can you tell us what is RCAM?


MR. CULBERT:  RCAM is regulatory cost allocation methodology, which was approved by the Board in a past proceeding.  It's a process that we follow.  I spoke about it a little bit this morning.  We follow what the Board approved in a past proceeding.


MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  And you can see the forecast for RCAM, the numbers in that line?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  And the number for 2018 is 395.9 million.  Do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, I do.


MR. LADANYI:  So what is your forecast for RCAM now for 2018?


MR. CULBERT:  I don't know the interrogatory number.  There was an interrogatory where we provided an estimate -- a placeholder of $50 million.  So that was a placeholder at a point in time, and my understanding is there is another interrogatory where we quoted an amount of $58 million.  I think that's in your compendium, in the next few pages.


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.


MR. CULBERT:  So I've actually had conversations with parties.  As I was mentioning earlier to Mr. Shepherd this morning, that cost allocation process at EI corporate is not completed at this point in time.  So we don't know exactly what it is we will be allocated, and neither does Union.


So we're not certain what the number will be in that eventuality, but it's --


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  The interrogatory is Energy Probe No. 5, and your answer was on page 26 of the compendium, and it's 58.4 million.


Can you tell me why the number is so much higher than what was given to the Board in the proceeding four years ago?  Why did it increase?


I think it's very significant.  It is about -- I don't know what percent.  Forty percent higher than what was in the forecast?


MR. CULBERT:  I can't give specifics for 2018 because I don't have the details.  But I can say for 2015 and 2016, if you look at those in your compendium page 23, the forecast that the Board approved for those two years was 34,000 and 33.8 million for 2016.


The actual RCAM numbers that were used for earning sharing purposes were 47 million and 49.1 million, which is pretty equivalent to what you're seeing as the increase you're noting for '18.


And what that was a result of, as I spoke earlier today, was there were services for HR and IT that were moved to EI centralized at EI for EGD.  So we had an increase in the RCAM allocation to EGD, but we also had offsetting decreases in EGD's O&M and other areas of the company.


So it's just a placement of where the services actually occur and they're now occurring out at EI.  That's why you see the higher numbers in RCAM versus what the Board approved.


MR. LADANYI:  That can be seen on our compendium on page 29.  It is your response to CCC number 15, page 3 at the bottom, is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  And so the increase, I think, in that year that you mentioned, it goes from 33.6 million to 47 million; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct and the next year it goes to 49.1 versus the Board-approved of 33.8, and it's all a result of services being moved from formerly at EGD, and now residing at EI.


But there were offsetting reductions in O&M in EGD's areas of O&M that the Board approved in other O&M categories.


MR. LADANYI:  And those reductions are you saying were completely offsetting that increase?


MR. CULBERT:  In fact, I think they were slightly greater than the increases that were coming through our camp, so there was a slight benefit accruing to EGD.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  If you could turn to page 30 of the compendium, these are numbers for Union Gas now, so probably these are for Mr. Kitchen.


MR. KITCHEN:  Actually the numbers on page 30 are better addressed by Mr. Tetreault on panel 3.


MR. LADANYI:  My questions are going to be very general.  Let's see if you can answer them, otherwise I'll have to come back and ask questions of panel 3.


They are simple questions.  They are not very hard questions.


When you look at 2017 actuals versus 2018 forecast, of particular interest to me is line 8, which is HR.


Why would there be such a huge increase from 2 to 12 million in one year?  What exactly -- do you know what's going on there?


MR. KITCHEN:  As I said, I think that's a question for panel 3.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, maybe you can answer this.  So from what I heard …


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Ladanyi, I don't even see where you're looking.


MR. LADANYI:  I'm looking -- sorry.  I'm looking at page 30 of the compendium, and there's two tables there.  The bottom table.


MS. ANDERSON:  I've got it.


MR. LADANYI:  Line 8 which says HR and you look across to the last two columns and you will see 2017 is 2,000,056 and 2,018 is 12,000,054.


It is a substantial increase and I'm sure we'll find good reasons for it.


MS. ANDERSON:  And I guess we'll leave that to panel 3 to answer.


MR. LADANYI:  That's right.  So maybe you can answer this.


When did the takeover of Spectra by Enbridge take place?  So the actual deal was signed, you were saying, in February of 2017, is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  The merger closed on February 27th, 2017.


MR. LADANYI:  So following that merger, there would have been services that previously Spectra had provided to Union Gas that were now provided by Enbridge Inc., is that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  Ultimately, yes.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And so there would be a services agreement for the services that Union was now getting from Enbridge Inc. starting in, let's say, February or March -- let's say March of 2017.  Is there such a services agreement?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's a question for panel 3.  The person on that panel, Mr. Tetreault, was responsible for that and is able to answer those questions.


MR. LADANYI:  Anyway, I'll be -- this is totally in advance that I'll be asking that the services agreement be filed in evidence.  So if panel 3 can bring it with them,  then we can save some time.


MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Kitchen, do you have an --


MR. KITCHEN:  Sorry, I didn't realize he was waiting for a response.


MS. ANDERSON:  It's just whether or not you have an issue with filing the service agreement.


MR. CASS:  Madam Chair, I'm not really sure what the response to that question is.  We don't have panel 3 here to respond to it.  I'm not in a position, sitting here today, to say yes, those documents are going to be brought with panel 3.


MS. ANDERSON:  But would you have an answer tomorrow?


MR. CASS:  Yes, I think we can do that.


MS. ANDERSON:  That's good.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, let's turn to page 31, please.  This would be undertaking JT1.17 to Ms. Girvan, and the undertaking asked for a forecast of the number of FTEs.


So as far as I know, FTEs stand for full-time equivalents.  Is that right, Mr. Culbert?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's my understanding.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, and you actually don't provide that; you actually provide something completely different which is head count.  Is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, that's what this chart produced.


MR. LADANYI:  So head count is at a point in time -- which in this case is December 31st, except for 2018, which has a February month-end -- and FTEs would actually be the annual, if you like, average number of employees.


So if, let's say a person -- if two employees got hired in July and they worked to the end of the year, they would be two head count.  But they would actually be one FTE, is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes.


MR. LADANYI:  So would it be possible for you to provide us the actual number of FTEs, because the reason why I'd really like that is because FTEs, don't they -- they actually connect directly, or are related directly to compensation cost, but head count isn't really.  Head count is only slightly related to compensation costs.


[Witness panel confers]

MR. CULBERT:  Pardon me, Mr. Ladanyi and Panel.  We were conferring about your question.  Could you repeat your question again so we can get a better understanding of what it is you're after?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, FTE is the same number -- the same actually for to you provide the response to Ms. Girvan's undertaking giving the FTEs, not head count; that's what she asked for.


MR. CHARLESON:  So Mr. Ladanyi, first, I don't agree with kind of what your characterization of FTEs are.  While Mr. Culbert kind of did agree with that, what you're talking about is more kind of a weighted-average FTE count over the course of a year.


FTE and head count are really similar-type measures where you would look at a point in time in terms of what's the total number of people that you have working for you, and a head count would be the total number of bodies, and FTE, you are going to look at, okay, is someone part-time, so are they working 40 percent of the time, say, count as .4 of an FTE, but it still tends to be looked at as a point in time.


What you're talking about is kind of a total labour allocation across the year, so I'm not sure, again, what it is you are trying to drive towards.


MR. LADANYI:  Well, I'm trying to get a connection between your compensation costs and the number of people working for you.  And the reason why, by the way, utilities and regulators have zeroed in on FTEs is because utilities have a lot of seasonal workers, and if you only look at head count you are not getting a true picture of who is working there, because seasonal workers might not be there on December 31st.


You actually have no idea, so FTEs would actually cover the entire compensation cost, so seasonal workers only working three months will be picked up in the FTE numbers, but they will not be picked it up they are not employed on December 31st, so that's the purpose of the FTE number.


I think it's very basic, and it's been actually discussed in this hearing, you know, many times over the years.


MR. CASS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair, the difficulty I'm having here is we're now on to a second series of questions that are essentially follow-ups on interrogatory responses.


The question about service level agreements, that was following up on an interrogatory response.  This is another follow-up on an interrogatory response.  We had three days of technical -- three full days of technical conference for that purpose for this type of question.  I don't understand why these are now coming forward in the hearing and with the expectation presumably that the panel is -- other people are going to go back and do more work to answer questions that could have been asked at the technical conference.


MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, we are just conferring whether there was an undertaking related to FTEs and -- oh, I see, so my understanding is that the technical conference, what was asked for is head count.  I see it now -- FTEs.


What was asked for was FTEs and what was replied was head count, so that they -- that the undertaking didn't provide the FTEs; is that correct?  Is that your --


MR. LADANYI:  That's exactly my understanding.


MS. ANDERSON:  So on that basis the undertaking from the technical conference didn't provide the information.


MR. CULBERT:  So our understanding of the question was trying to get at what the savings were, the salaries and wages and benefits savings were, from changes in employees, and the results in our O&M, they're actually resident inside of our actuals every year, and our estimates of cost reductions.


Could we attempt to produce an FTE calculation?  I would have to check with the back office to see how long that would take, but I'm not sure it would change the results of what the O&M reductions are that we've achieved from restructuring.


MR. KITCHEN:  I think, just to add on, I think that -- although the question says "please provide the 2018 forecast number of FTEs", I think it might be worthwhile for us to look at the transcript to see actually the -- what was asked, and I believe, as Mr. Culbert said, the interest was in the impacts -- the customer -- or, sorry, the employee cost savings and the total impact of the changes, so...


MS. ANDERSON:  I guess the question that we don't seem to have is whether those savings would be different if you were looking at it from an FTE perspective rather than head count.


MR. CULBERT:  No, and I think that was my answer, that the reductions in cost are no different.  Benefits, salaries, et cetera, that's a calculation of the number of employees that have left the company due to restructuring.


[Board Panel confers]


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So they are showing me the transcript, which shows that the question came from Ms. Girvan, and it was about just a rough estimate of savings related to the head count, so if this answer that they're saying is roughly the same, is that sufficient?


MR. LADANYI:  Well, we'll have to work on that.  I'll move on.  It is late in the day.  Thank you.


Okay.  My next question, still on the same page.  So you are saying that the average assumed employee compensation is 130,000.  And does that include all employees costs, including benefits, pensions, everything, or is it just -- is it just basic compensation?


MR. CULBERT:  My understanding, it was an average of compensation plus benefits in that average.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  And, now, in questions from Ms. Girvan this morning you actually confirmed that the reduction in employees over the period is 266 employees; is that right?


MR. CULBERT:  Subject to check, I mentioned, yes.


MR. LADANYI:  So would I be right in multiplying 266 employees times 130 to actually get the annual saving?


MR. CULBERT:  It would depend at what point in a year somebody was -- actually left the company.  Not everybody leaves for a full year.


MR. LADANYI:  No, sorry, I didn't put it right:  The saving that would be occurred after this period.  So let's say in 2018, the net cumulative effect of all these reductions would be 35 million, wouldn't it?  It would be 266 times 130.  Wouldn't that be right?


MR. CULBERT:  Yes, the cumulative impact shown in that column is $35 million.  I spoke about that earlier, yes.


MR. LADANYI:  So the clawback that we talked about earlier today, that would be one of the clawbacks, wouldn't it, a 35 million reduction?  That would be essentially a saving, a productivity saving that would have accrued to ratepayers.  Now, I know there could be offsetting costs, and I admit that they would -- might have been, but in net saving would have been 35 million, which we would call clawback and the ratepayers would call benefits.


MR. CULBERT:  That is one area of costs which would be lower in our forecast of a cost-of-service rebasing in 2019.  That's one area of costs which would be different than it otherwise was approved in 2018 going forward, correct.  But that's the only change in cost that's occurring, to your point, Mr. Ladanyi.


MR. LADANYI:  Thank you.


MR. LADANYI:  Could you turn to page -- and perhaps this is for another panel -- to the next page, which is going to be page 32.  And this is an excerpt from Enbridge's last annual productivity report, and the highlighted line deals with O&M FTEs, and it shows 8.7 and 15 reduction.


Can you explain to me -- and perhaps you're not the right person -- how this relates to the numbers that are shown in the JT1.7, which was just in the previous page?


MR. CULBERT:  No, sitting here today, I can't reconcile those numbers without speaking to someone who put these numbers together for the productivity report and what's been done here.  No, sitting here today, I can't tell you that, no.


MR. LADANYI:  So this would be more appropriate for another panel?


MR. CULBERT:  No, it would be appropriate for an undertaking for myself to explain what the difference is.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Does this mean that I can ask for an undertaking?


MR. CULBERT:  Absolutely.


MS. ANDERSON:  You can always ask.


MR. LADANYI:  Yes, please.  Reconcile the numbers.


MR. RICHLER:  J1.5.

UNDERTAKING NO. J1.5:  TO RECONCILE THE O&M FTE NUMBERS.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Before we leave this head-count FTE business, I notice that their numbers that were provided in JT1.7 are slightly different than the numbers that were provided on page 33 of the compendium to CCC No. 7, so there was a correction for one of the years.  Could you confirm that for Enbridge, not for Union?


MR. CULBERT:  Sorry, could you point me to what your references are, Mr. Ladanyi?


MR. LADANYI:  Sorry, page 34 of the compendium versus the -- page 31 of compendium.


MS. GIRVAN:  Sorry, can I just interject?  CCC No. 7 was updated on April 12th.


MR. LADANYI:  I know that, exactly.


So I wanted to -- can you tell me why it was updated?  Was there a mistake, or did you have new numbers?  What was the reason for the update?


MR. CULBERT:  I think it was just a mistake in the presentation, Mr. Ladanyi.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, thank you.  Go to page 38 of the compendium, please.  I am almost done.


MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, I think you are about at your forty-five minute mark.


MR. LADANYI:  I am trying to go as fast as possible, please.  Thank you.


So page 38 is FRPO No. 1.  It is one of the pages and it talks about the spending of $20 million on severance that would occur in the first year.  Do you see that?


MR. CULBERT:  That's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  And am I to assume therefore that there will be savings starting in the first or second year, that right away there will be savings as a result of those reductions in staff?


MR. REINISCH:  Yes, we've modeled the cost to achieve in the first year will be offset by savings in the first year, and that the savings will start in year 2.


That can be found in a variety of places within the evidence, but ultimately it's within the -- within Exhibit B, attachment 12.


MR. LADANYI:  In the interest of time, I'm going to skip some of my next few questions and go more or less to the end here.


We included in our compendium on page 48 the Board decision in EB-0195 (sic), which is the merger between Union Gas and Centra, and I think that Mr. Brett hit on one of the pages from that decision.  The decision was March 7th, 1997.


Mr. Kitchen, you were an employee of Union Gas at that time?


MR. KITCHEN:  I was.


MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  So in that -- if you look at page 47, and perhaps you can remind us, if I've got it wrong -- at the time of that application, West Coast Energy had actually control of both Centra Gas and Union Gas.  So it was in some ways similar to the current application, and it went before the Board for approval of the merger.


But the approval was not conditional on anything.  It was just please approve the merger, and here's the filing.  It doesn't say if you give us something we don't like, then the merger is off.  Isn't that right?


MR. KITCHEN:  It's -- excuse me, I've got a frog in my throat.


Yes, there was no -- there was no Board approval, or West Coast board approval or -- at that time to the extent that the Board gave a decision that didn't allow us to proceed.


I think that was a very different regulatory construct.  That proceeding started out, first of all, as an application to essentially get the Board to let us to vary one of the undertakings, which at the time meant -- which at the time said that Union and Centra couldn't share services because they were affiliates.  So it was before the affiliate code even.


And we went through a shared services arrangement and ultimately we ended up merging.  But at that time, you know, we were essentially in cost of service regulation and the MAADs policy didn't exist.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  So in my recollection, perhaps you might correct me, there's never been a conditional application to approve a merger before the OEB before.  This is the very first time that somebody has come up with an application that is conditional of saying if we don't get what we want in the decision, then we're going to do something else.  Isn't this the first time?


MR. KITCHEN:  I think -- I think, Mr. Ladanyi, that I dealt with this extensively this morning with Mr. Shepherd.


It would be imprudent for a board of directors not to want to review the decision prior to -- prior to agreeing to the actual amalgamation.  They need to ensure the financial viability of the entities, and that's how they do that.


They have given us approval to proceed with the application, which is what we're doing, and we'll have to go back to the board.


We're not saying that, you know, if the Board varies
-- gives a decision different from what we ask, we are not going ahead.  What we've said is we need to review the decision in its entirety, and at that point a decision would be made.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay, so the Board -- you are not saying that the West Coast board was imprudent, by the way, in 1997?


MR. KITCHEN:  No.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  Could you turn to page 48, please?  This is the second-to-last question.  I really would like to finish.


So here in paragraph 2.32, there is a listing of anticipated savings.  And if you look at paragraph 2.33 on that page, you can see that it says:

"A full 2. million in savings would be realized by the year 2000."

So if the decision was in 1997, this is within three years of the decision.


So could you tell me, was there great difficulty in achieving these savings over such a short period of time when Union and Centra merged?


MR. KITCHEN:  Actually, Mr. Ladanyi, I can't.  In 1997, I had been with the company approximately three to four years, and was working in a very different department.  So I'm not in a position to say if it was difficult or not.


MR. LADANYI:  Okay.  But there was no question, you'll recall that people said I wish we had ten years.


MR. KITCHEN:  I'm not sure that's even a reasonable question, Mr. Ladanyi.


MS. ANDERSON:  I think he's saying he wasn't in a position to answer that.


MR. LADANYI:  Very good, and I will not ask any further questions on this material.


But I see that the Board in the decision goes into discussion of the no harm test, and I'm not going to ask anything about that.


I am just going to go to the very last page of my compendium, and there in paragraph 6.04, the Board discusses the reasons why it is not allowing the applicants to include certain costs.  And these would be costs, transaction costs, costs that were out of period, costs related to the merger and so on.


You see that, Mr. Kitchen?


MR. KITCHEN:  I do.


MR. LADANYI:  Very good.  So first question, can I ask you -- I was just going to ask one question.  But perhaps now, after all of this, there are maybe two questions.


Is the applicant -- and I don't know who the applicant here is, if it's Enbridge and Union or this mythical Amalco -- is there an account that you are actually collecting the cost of the merger with the hope of recovering it at some future date?


MR. KITCHEN:  The transaction costs are being tracked, but they are to the accounts of the company.


MR. LADANYI:  So you are confirming there will be no attempt to recover them from ratepayers?


MR. KITCHEN:  That's correct.


MR. LADANYI:  These are all my questions, thank you.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, everyone.  I think I have been looking at having VECC on deck, but we're going to end it for the day.  I think we'll start fresh in the morning, so thank you, everyone.

--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:36 p.m.
     REDACTED


     PUBLIC











87

